
PENSION FUND COMMITTEE
& PENSION BOARD

THURSDAY, 10TH DECEMBER, 2015

A JOINT MEETING of the PENSION FUND COMMITTEE AND PENSION BOARD will be held in 

the COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL HEADQUARTERS, NEWTOWN ST BOSWELLS on 

THURSDAY, 10 DECEMBER 2015 at 9.30 am.

Please note that there will be a training session on Pension Benefits, which will commence 

at the conclusion of formal business and will last for approximately one hour.

J. J. WILKINSON,
Clerk to the Council,
4 December 2015

BUSINESS

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Order of Business 

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. Minute (Pages 1 - 4) 2 mins

Minute of Meeting held on 3 September 2015 to be noted and signed by the 
Chairman. (Copy attached).

5. Risk Register Update (Pages 5 - 12) 5 mins

Consider report by Chief Financial Officer. (Copy attached).
6. Business Plan Performance Update (Pages 13 - 20) 10 mins

Consider report by Chief Financial Officer. (Copy attached). 
7. Communication Strategy 15 mins

Verbal update by Mr Ian Angus, HR Shared Services Manager.
8. Procurement Update (Pages 21 - 24) 10 mins

Consider report by Chief Financial Officer.  (Copy attached.)
9. Cessation Briefing (Pages 25 - 28) 10 mins

Consider report by Chief Financial Officer.  (Copy attached.)
10. Scheme Advisory Board - Work Plan (Pages 29 - 30) 5 mins

Public Document Pack



Bulletin from Scottish Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board.  
(Copy attached.)

11. Investment in Infrastructure 10 mins

(a)  SBC Submission of Evidence (Pages 31 - 80)
(Copy attached.)

(b)  Final Report 
(Copy attached.)

(Pages 81-112)

12. Any Other Items Previously Circulated 

13. Any Other Items which the Chairman Decides are Urgent 

14. Items Likely To Be Taken In Private 

Before proceeding with the private business, the following motion should be 
approved:-

“That under Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 8 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the aforementioned Act.”

15. Minute (Pages 113 - 114) 2 mins

Private Section of Minute of Meeting held on 3 September 2015 to be noted 
and signed by the Chairman. (Copy attached).

16. Quarterly Performance Update (Pages 115 - 152) 30 mins

Consider report by Mr Kenneth Ettles. AON Hewitt. (Copy attached).
17. Property Investment Update (Pages 153 - 160) 10 mins

Consider report by Chief Financial Officer. (Copy attached). 

NOTES
1. Timings given above are only indicative and not intended to inhibit Members’ 

discussions.

2. Members are reminded that, if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any 
item of business coming before the meeting, that interest should be declared prior to 
commencement of discussion on that item. Such declaration will be recorded in the 
Minute of the meeting.

Membership of Committee:- Councillors B White (Chairman), J. Campbell, M. J. Cook, G. Edgar, 
G. Logan, J. G. Mitchell, S. Mountford, S. Aitchison (Co-Chair), SpareIpad1 and SpareIpad2

Please direct any enquiries to Judith Turnbull.  Tel No. 01835 826556
Judith.Turnbull@scotborders.gov.uk



SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL
PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

AND PENSION BOARD

MINUTES of Meeting of the PENSION FUND 
COMMITTEE AND PENSION BOARD held 
in Council Chamber, Council Headquarters, 
Newtown St Boswells on Thursday, 3 
September, 2015 at 10.45 am

Present:- Councillors B White (Chairman), A Aitchison, J Campbell, G Edgar, G 
Logan, S Mountford, Mr A Barclay, Ms R Black, Mr M Drysdale, Ms L 
Ross, Ms C Stewart. 

 Apologies:-     Councillors M Cook, J Mitchell, Mr C Hogarth, Mr P Smith.
In Attendance:- Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Finance Manager, HR Shared 

Services Manager, Treasury & Capital Manager, Chief Officer Audit & 
Risk,  Mr K Ettles – AON Hewitt Consulting,  Democratic Services 
Officer (J Turnbull).  

1. ORDER OF BUSINESS 
The Chairman varied the order of business as shown on the agenda and the Minute 
reflects the order in which the items were considered at the meeting.

2. MINUTE 
There had been circulated copies of the Minute of the Meeting of 18 June 2015.  

DECISION:
NOTED for signature by the Chairman. 

3. PENSION ADMINISTRATION STRATEGY 
There had been circulated a report by Chief Officer Human Resources proposing the 
revised Pension Administration Strategy for the Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund.  
The Pension Fund was required by the Local Government Pension Scheme (Scotland) 
Regulations 2014 to have an up to date Pension Administration Strategy.  Implementation 
of the revised regulations, effective from 1 April 2015, had triggered a review of the 
revision of the existing document.  Appendix 1 to the report contained the revised Pension 
Administration Strategy which contained only minor amendments to the previously 
approved document.   Mr Angus, HR Shared Services Manager, highlighted the minor 
changes which included changes to the timescale for issuing the annual benefit 
statements from October to August and completion of Transfer In and Transfer Out of the 
Scheme from 10 to 20 days. 

DECISION 
AGREED the Pension Administration Strategy as set out in Appendix 1 to the 
report. 

4. ANNUAL AUDIT OF THE PENSION FUND 
Ms Mirley, Corporate Finance Manager, advised that the Annual Report and Accounts 
had not been finalised.  However, there was no material difference to the draft which had 
been presented to the Committee in June.  The Annual Report and Accounts would be 
presented to Audit & Risk Committee at the meeting on 28 September 2015.  Following 
the meeting, Ms Mirley would forward copies of the Annual Report and Account to 
members of the Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board for information. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



DECISION
AGREED to request the Corporate Finance Manager, circulate the Annual Report 
and Accounts when finalised. 

5. TRAINING UPDATE 
There had been circulated a report by the Corporate Finance Manager updating on the 
training opportunities that were available over the next few months and identifying 
budgetary provision for these.  The report reiterated the requirement for members of both 
the Pension Fund Committee and the Pension Board to demonstrate an ongoing 
commitment to developing their knowledge and skills in line with the Training Policy, and 
in support of this identified two external courses that were specifically for Scottish Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Funds.  The dates of these events were 9 October, 
19 and 20 November 2015, both were to be held in Edinburgh.  It was proposed that to 
support the training agenda for the Pension Fund a budget of £10,000 per annum be 
identified to support activities for the continued development of the  members’ skills and 
knowledge.  Ms Mirley referred to the Appendix, circulated with the report, which detailed 
the Programme and Speaker Biographies for the Training Seminar to be held on 9 
October 2015.  Ms Mirley also highlighted the proposed Conference scheduled for 19 and 
20 November and explained that this would be relevant to both new Pension Board 
members and more experienced members of the Pension Fund Committee. Once the 
Conference Programme had been issued, it would be circulated.  Any members interested 
in attending either event should contact Ms Mirley. 

DECISION 
(a) AGREED the creation of an annual training budget of £10,000 for members 

of the Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board; and
(b)  NOTED the external training dates identified in the report and encouraged 

members of the Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board to make the 
necessary time to develop their skills and knowledge through these. 

6. RISK REGISTER UPDATE 
There had been circulated a report by the Treasury and Capital Manager providing the 
Pension Fund Committee with an updated Risk Register for approval.  Identifying and 
managing risk was a corner stone of effective management and was required under the 
Council’s Risk Management Policy and process guide and CIPFA’s guidance “Delivering 
Governance in Local Government Framework 2007”.  It was further reflected and 
enhanced in the “Local Government Pension Scheme” published by CIPFA.  The Risk 
Register, circulated at the meeting, included the scoring which had been agreed at the 
Workshop prior to the meeting. The Risk Matrix, also circulated at the meeting, had also 
been discussed and updated at the Workshop it was noted that the Committee would: 
Tolerate – Accept risk with current controls and review; Treat – Implement mitigating 
actions to reduce likelihood and/or impact and review; Transfer – the risk to a third party 
or insurance;  and Terminate – Change the course of action and avoid the risk. 

7. In light of the Council’s revised Risk Management Policy (2015) it was proposed to adopt 
an amended reporting cycle for the Pension Fund Risk Register and this is set out below. 
  

Quarterly Key risks, escalation of any risks that were perceived 
to have changed adversely and any new risks needed to be considered 
by the Committee.
Update on progress of risk management action delivery.

Bi-Annually
(in December)

Key risks, escalation of any risks that were perceived to have changed 
adversely and any new risks needed to be considered by the Committee.
Update on progress of risk management action delivery.

Annually 
(in June)

Annual reporting on progress with Risk Management Actions 
and approval of fully reviewed Risk Register 

Page 2



including consideration of any new risks.

 
DECISION
AGREED
(a) The Risk Register as circulated at the Meeting;
(b) The revised reporting cycle set out above; and
(c) A key risk review being undertaken in December 2015 and reporting of 

progress on risk management actions. 

8. ITEMS LIKELY TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 
DECISION
AGREED under Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 to 
exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the business 
contained in the following items on the ground that they involved the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 6 and 8 of the part 1 of 
Schedule 7A to the Act. 

SUMMARY OF PRIVATE BUSINESS

9. MINUTE 
The Committee noted the Private Minute of the meeting of 18 June 2015.

10. QUARTER PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
The Committee noted a report by AON Hewitt Consulting.

11. GLOBAL EQUITY MANAGER UPDATE 
The Committee noted a report by the Chief Financial Officer. 

12. UBS 
The Committee noted that this report would be deferred to the December meeting. 

The meeting concluded at 12.10 pm. 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board, 10 December 2015

RISK REGISTER UPDATE

Report by Chief Financial Officer

JOINT MEETING OF PENSION FUND COMMITTEE AND 
PENSION BOARD

10 December 2015

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This report forms part of the bi annual risk review request and 
provides the Members of the Pension Fund Committee and Pension 
Board with an update of the progress of the management actions 
to mitigate the risks, a review of any new risks and highlights 
changes to any of the risks contained in the risk register.

1.2 Identifying and managing risk is a corner stone of effective management 
and is required under the Council’s Risk Management Policy and process 
guide and CIPFA’s guidance “Delivering Governance in Local Government 
Framework 2007”.  It is further reflected and enhanced in the “Local 
Government Pension Scheme” published by CIPFA.

1.3 Appendix 1 details the risks within the approved Risk Register which 
identified management actions and the progress of these actions to date

1.4 In line with the Council’s Risk Management Policy (2015) a paper to be 
presented at the June 2015 meeting will demonstrate  progress regarding 
actions and present a fully reviewed risk register including consideration of 
any new risks.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee and Board:- 

(a) Notes the management actions progress as contained in 
Appendix 1

(b) Agrees to the additional actions proposed in Appendix 1.

(c) Notes further information to be provided at the March 2016 
meeting on pooling of funds and infrastructure investments.

(d) Notes no new risks have been identified since the last review.

(e) Agrees to a full  review of the risk register being undertaken 
in June 2016 to include progress on risk management 
actions, and consideration of any new risks.

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



Joint Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board, 10 December 2015

3 BACKGROUND

3.1 Identifying and managing risk is a corner stone of effective management 
and is required under the CIPFA guidance “Delivering Governance in Local 
Government Framework 2007”.  It is further reflected and enhanced in the 
“Local Government Pension Scheme” published by CIPFA.

3.2 The Risk Register has been developed in line with the Council’s approach to 
risk management as set out in the “Risk Management process guide” and 
assesses risks using a risk score based on likelihood and impact.  It has 
been further refined to reflect best practice “Managing Risk in the Local 
Government Pension Scheme” published by CIPFA.

3.3 The Pension Fund’s Business Plan 2015/16 – 2017/18 was approved on 18 
June 2015 and set out the aims and objectives of the Pension Fund.  These 
aims and objectives were fully considered and recognised in the formation 
and approval of the Pension Funds risk register.

3.4 The Council’s revised Risk Management process guide uses the following 
risk scoring:

Level of risk Risk score 

High –Risk Score Range 15-25

Medium – Risk Score Range 6 – 12

Low – Risk Score Range 1 - 5

3.5 To comply with the Council’s revised policy of risk management and best 
practice a Risk Management reporting cycle was developed around the 
performance and business plan reporting of the Pension Fund.  As a result 
the following cycle of reporting was adopted:

Quarterly  Quarterly Investment Performance Report
 Key risks, escalation of any risks that are perceived to have 
changed adversely and any new risks need to be considered by the 
Committee.
 Update on progress of risk management action delivery

Bi-
Annually

 Mid-Year Progress report on Business Plan Actions
 Key risks, escalation of any risks that are perceived to have 
changed adversely and any new risks need to be considered by the 
Committee.
 Update on progress of risk management action delivery

Annually  Annual Governance Meeting with Annual Report and 
Policy/Strategy Performance Reports
 Annual reporting on progress with Business Plan and approval of 
updated Business Plan 
 Annual reporting on progress with Risk Management Actions and 
approval of fully reviewed Risk Register including consideration of 
any new risks 

RED

AMBER

GREEN

Page 6



Joint Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board, 10 December 2015

4 RISK REGISTER UPDATE

4.1 A full risk workshop was undertaken on 3 September 2015 in order to 
ensure that the risk register’s contents were still relevant and up-to-date.  
The outcome of the workshop was then approved at the Committee/Board 
meeting.  This report provides an update on all areas required for bi-
annual review except for the mid-year progress of the Business Plan which 
is reported in a separate report.

4.2 The progress of the individual management actions identified in the current 
risk register are detailed in Appendix 1.

4.3 There has been discussion at UK national level on the pooling of pension 
funds and drive to increase investment in infrastructure.  Officers are 
currently undertaking further work to assess the possible implications for 
the Pension Fund and will report back to the Committee and Board at the 
March 2016 meeting to allow the risk score to be evaluated on a more 
informed basis.

4.4 No new risks have been identified since the approval of the risk register on 
3 September 2015.  The risks previously identified and scored at the 
September workshop remain unchanged. 

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial

There are no direct financial implications of this report.

5.2 Risk and Mitigations

The purpose of providing the update to the Committee and Board is as part 
of improving the risk management framework for the Pension Fund to 
demonstrate that the Members of the Pension Fund Committee and the 
Pension Board understand the risks faced and how it is proposed to 
manage, mitigate or tolerate these risks. The Additional Proposed Actions 
as contained in Appendix 1, and recommended for approval by the 
Committee and Board in this report, are designed to directly enhance the 
management of risks.

5.3 Equalities

It is anticipated that there are no adverse impact due to race, disability, 
gender, age, sexual orientation or religion/belief arising from the proposals 
in this report.

5.4 Acting Sustainably

There are no direct economic, social or environmental issues with this 
report which would affect the Council’s sustainability policy.

5.5 Carbon Management

There are no direct carbon emissions impacts as a result of this report.

5.6 Rural Proofing 

It is anticipated there will be no adverse impact on the rural area from the 
proposals contained in this report. 

5.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

Page 7



Joint Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board, 10 December 2015

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 The Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, the Service Director 
Strategy and Policy, the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Chief Officer HR 
and the Clerk to the Council are currently being consulted and their 
comments will be made available at the meeting.

Approved by

David Robertson
Chief Financial Officer Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Kirsty Robb Treasury & Capital Manager, 01835 825249

Background Papers:  
Previous Minute Reference:  Pension Fund Committee 3 September 2015

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  The Treasury & Capital Team can 
also give information on other language translations as well as providing additional 
copies.

Contact us at: Treasury & Capital Team, Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, 
Melrose, TD6 OSA Tel: 01835 825016 Fax 01835 825166. email: 
treasuryteam@scotborders.gov.uk

Page 8

mailto:treasuryteam@scotborders.gov.uk


Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board 10 December 2015 1 of 4

APPENDIX 1

Controls Residual Risk Progress

No. Category Risk Causes/Triggers Consequences Proximity Risk Owner Current Controls Control
Assessment Impact Likeliho

od Score Actions as at 10/12/2015

1.1 Asset &
Investment

Failure to achieve the target
investment returns set out in
the Statement of Investment
Principles over the longer
term may lead to significant
increased employer
contribution rates and costs
of implementing changes to
the investment strategy.

Inappropriate strategic asset
allocation for Fund's requirements;
Inappropriate investment
approaches within asset class;
Underperformance/ negative
investment returns from
investments under management;
Significant and sustained market
and economic events creating
adverse movements in valuations;
Investment Strategy Inconsistent
with Funding Strategy.

Significant rises in the
employer contributions;
Costs involved in
implementing changes to
investment strategy;
Funding Deficit for Fund.

Ongoing

Pension Fund
Committee/
Chief
Financial
Officer

Continual monitoring of investment performance;
Engagement with Investment Adviser to update
investment strategies and periodic review of
strategic asset allocation;
Scrutiny of Investment Manager performance by
Investment & Performance Sub-Committee
Actuary reports included element of prudence
TOLERATE
Additional Actions Proposed:
Enhance officer role in monitoring of investment
returns to enable more timely  action to be taken.
Encourage more thorough challenge of Advisers
and Fund Managers.

Effective 4 3 12

Training requirements
being actioned as part of
Training plan to ensure
Members have required
skills and knowledge to
enable challenge.

1.4 Asset &
Investment

Failure to take expert advice
or risk of poor
investment/actuarial advice
may lead to the Fund's
assets not being properly
managed resulting in
inappropriate investment
decisions and poor returns
and/or insufficient funding
levels

Committee ignores advice
provided by expert adviser;
External adviser provides
inappropriate/inaccurate/
insufficient advice to
Committee/Officers

Fund takes wrong or
inappropriate decisions in
relation to proper
management of the Fund
resulting in inadequate
investment returns and/or
insufficient funding levels
potentially increasing
employers contribution
rates.

Ongoing

Pension Fund
Committee/
Chief
Financial
Officer

Robust procurement processes around the
recruitment and appointment process;
Continual review of Investment Adviser/Actuary
performance;
Benchmark performance against other LAs;Regular
benchmarking and cross verification of advice with
other local authorities through the Local
Government Pension Scheme(Scotland) Investment
& Governance Group;
Use other information sources and discussions with
non-Fund investment managers/advisers to validate
advice and performance of Fund;
Use independent Performance monitoring
company; Utilise independent performance
monitoring service to provide an independent
annual review/health check to the Investment &
Performance Sub-Committee.  Introduction of
Pension Board providing scrutiny role.
TOLERATE
Additional Actions Proposed:
Ongoing training for elected members of the
Pension Board and Committee.   

Effective 4 2 8

Training requirements
being actioned as part of
Training plan to ensure
Members have required
skills and knowledge to
enable challenge.

1.5 Asset &
Investment

Failure to manage Currency
risk may lead to an inability
to maximise the returns from
investments with the agreed
risk parameters resulting in
an adverse impact on
valuation of investment
assets and assessment of
Fund's future liabilities

Adverse movements in
market/economic conditions
impacting on currency rates

Adverse impact on
valuation of investment
assets and assessment of
Fund's future liabilities

Ongoing
Chief
Financial
Officer

Passive Currency hedge in place for directly held
equity investments on major currencies;
Monthly review of hedge levels.

TREAT
Additional Actions Proposed:   
Procurement of a dynamic currency hedge mandate
for an element of the directly held equity investment

Partially
Effective 3 4 12

Investment Management
Agreement almost complete
to allow procurement to
commence in the New Year

1.9 Asset &
Investment

Investment Strategy is
inconsistent with Funding
Strategy may lead to the
fund not being managed
properly through setting
employer contribution rates
incorrectly resulting in the
future liabilities of the Fund
not being able to be covered
by its assets and requiring
employers to increase
contribution rates to
address any funding gap.

Investment Strategy for Fund set
without appropriate consideration
of the requirements of the Funding
Strategy

Fund not being managed
properly setting employer
contribution rates
incorrectly resulting in the
future liabilities of the Fund
not being able to be
covered by its assets and
requiring employers to
increase contribution rates
to address any funding gap.

Ongoing

Pension Fund
Committee/
Chief
Financial
Officer

Full actuarial valuation undertaken on Triennial
basis.  Funding Strategy Statement and Statement
of Investment Principles updated and approved at
the same time.  As part of this assess requirement
for Investment strategy to be reviewed and updated
accordingly.                       TOLERATE 
Additional Action Proposed:
Undertake a full investment strategy review
following 2014 valuation.

Effective 2 2 4

Commenced procurement
of Investment Advisor, will
then undertake full
investment strategy review.

Pension Fund - Risk Register

P
age 9



Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board 10 December 2015 2 of 4

Controls Residual Risk Progress

No. Category Risk Causes/Triggers Consequences Proximity Risk Owner Current Controls Control
Assessment Impact Likeliho

od Score Actions as at 10/12/2015

Pension Fund - Risk Register

1
.
1
0

 Asset &
Investment

Failure of Funds investment
returns to keep pace with
pay and CPI Inflation
increases may lead to
Funding Levels falling and
potentially requiring
increases in employer
contribution rates.

Funding levels fall, SBC pay
more contributions into
Fund

ongoing

Continual monitoring of investment performance;
Engagement with Investment Adviser to update
investment strategies and periodic review of
strategic asset allocation and introduction of other
asset types.   Regular dialogue with Fund Actuary;
Actuary attendance at Pension Fund Committee on
an annual basis between triennial valuations.

TREAT - Action Proposed continued monitoring
and evaluation of inflation and pay awards

Effective 3 4 12

Work plan and information
requirements currently
being developed in
conjunction with other
Employers.   Also in
discussion with Actuary on
possible use of existing
information to aid cashflow
projections

2.5 Employer

Failure to understand and be
involved in proposed
structural changes in
employers' engagement in
the Scheme may lead to
failure to manage the
transition to a different
level/type of participation by
the employer in the Fund
resulting in inappropriate
employer contribution rates
and insufficient management
of contributions to cover
future liabilities of that
employer.

Failure to understand and be
involved in proposed structural
changes in employers'
engagement in the Scheme.   Fund
participation no longer affordable
to an employer.

Failure to manage the
transition to a different
level/type of participation by
the employer in the Fund
resulting in inappropriate
employer contribution rates
and insufficient
management of
contributions to cover
future liabilities of that
employer.
Fund reaches maturity
more quickly;  Adverse
impact on cash flow and
funding levels.

Ongoing

Pension Fund
Committee/
HR Shared
Services
Manager

Annual Employers Liaison group established to
improve two-way communication;
Borders College and 2 Admitted Bodies
representatives on Pension Board;
Full actuarial valuation undertaken on Triennial
basis;  Active involvement of actuary in projects
affecting membership structures:   Low number of
admitted and scheduled bodies and any new
admitted bodies are carefully considered before
admission.
TOLERATE  
Additional Action Proposed:
Full communications strategy being developed
during 2015/16 to further improve Employer
Engagement

Effective 2 3 6

Communication strategy
currently being developed
in conjunction with
Communication Team.

3.1 Resources & skills

Over reliance on key officers
may lead to significant
knowledge gaps resulting in
failure to manage the Fund
effectively.

Over reliance on key individual
officers and/or absence of
succession management in
relation to supporting crucial
aspects of the operation of the
Fund.

May lead to significant
knowledge gaps resulting in
failure to manage and
operate the Fund
effectively.

Ongoing

Chief
Financial
Officer/ Chief
Officer Human
Resources

Use of external advisers (investment/tax/SPPA)
provides additional resilience and resources.
New pension administration system implemented
which includes help modules in built which can be
enhanced to include details specific to SBC Pension
Fund;  Restructure of teams to ensure no single
point of failure and manage succession planning.
TOLERATE     
Additional Action Proposed:
Improvement in quality of procedure notes for
officers.

Effective 2 3 6

Acton plan for the
development and updating
of procedure notes
currently being developed.
Will prioritise for perceived
high risk and possible quick
wins.

3.7 Resources & skills

Failure of Officers to
maintain sufficient level of
competence to discharge
their duties could lead to
failure to manage the Fund
effectively as a result of their
inability to provide
appropriate decision making
support and advice.

Failure of Officers to maintain
sufficient level of competence to
discharge their duties.  Lack of
documented procedures.

Failure to manage the Fund
effectively as a result an
inability of officers to
provide appropriate
decision making support
and advice.

Ongoing

Chief
Financial
Officer/ Chief
Officer Human
Resources

Use of External Advisers provides additional
resilience and resources;
PRD process implemented to identified training and
development requirements;
Active participation in Scottish Investments and
Governance Group (IGG) and Scottish Pensions
Liaison Group;  Regular engagement with external
Investment Managers to supplement knowledge.
TREAT                                                               Additional
Action Proposed:
Improvement in quality of procedure notes for
officers.

Partially
Effective 2 3 6

Acton plan for the
development and writing of
procedure notes currently
being developed.  Will
prioritise for perceived high
risk and possible quick
wins.

P
age 10



Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board 10 December 2015 3 of 4

Controls Residual Risk Progress

No. Category Risk Causes/Triggers Consequences Proximity Risk Owner Current Controls Control
Assessment Impact Likeliho

od Score Actions as at 10/12/2015

Pension Fund - Risk Register

4.1 Liquidity

Changes in composition of
Pension Fund membership
i.e. active/ deferred/
pensioners  may lead to
there being insufficient
assets in the Fund to meet
the future liabilities as they
fall due potentially
increasing employers
contribution levels and
changes to the investment
strategy.

Changes in composition of
Pension Fund membership i.e.
active/deferred/pensioners 

Fund Matures more quickly
than currently anticipated
and may lead to there being
insufficient assets in the
Fund to meet the future
liabilities as they fall due
potentially increasing
employers contribution
levels and changes to the
investment strategy.

Ongoing
Chief
Financial
Officer

Funding Strategy Statement, Statement of
Investment Principles and Triennial Valuation all
work together to identify funding requirements and
how these are met;
Use of an Investment Adviser and Actuarial services
as and when required.  Implementation of Auto-
enrolment with final transition being completed by
July 2017;  Pension Administration Strategy in place
and monitored and Employer Liaison Group.
Annual Report includes analysis membership
changes.

TREAT 
Additional Actions Proposed:
Close monitoring of early retiral decisions and
quantification of impact on pension fund being
included as part of the Council reports;  Review to
be undertaken of cashflow scenarios to identify
timelines and impact of changing legislation. 

Partially
Effective 4 4 16

Work plan and information
requirements currently
being developed in
conjunction with other
Employers.   Also in
discussion with Actuary on
possible use of existing
information to aid cashflow
projections

4.2 Liquidity

Employees can no longer
afford to participate in the
scheme then there may be
reduced income into Fund
resulting in a change being
required to the Funding and
Investments Strategy due to
changes in participation
levels.

Employees can no longer afford to
participate in the scheme due
economic environment or increase
employee contribution rates.

Reduced income into Fund
resulting in a change being
required to the Funding and
Investments Strategy due to
changes in participation
levels.

Ongoing
Chief
Financial
Officer

Limited measures in place.   Nationally negotiated
rates/benefits with employee representatives (i.e.
Trade Unions) on minimising employee contribution
increases;
Pay awards now being given, economy now
improving;
LGPS changes implementation of 50/50 option;
Trade Union involvement in the Pension Board and
Scheme Advisory Board.  Communication issued
with annual benefits statements

TREAT
Additional Actions Proposed:                           Ensure
regular information is issued to employees setting
out the continued benefits of scheme membership
e.g. tax relief on contributions/employers
contribution;
Communication strategy being developed. 

Partially
Effective 4 3 12

Being developed as part of
communication strategy in
conjunction with
Communication Team.

4
.
9

Liquidity

Failure to manage the
liquidity required for the
Fund's cashflows may lead
to assets being sold at
unattractive times or
investment opportunities are
missed due to unavailability
of cash resulting in an
adverse impact on the
valuation of the Fund's
assets.

Failure to manage the liquidity
required for the Fund's cashflows.

Requirement to divest
investment assets at an
unattractive time or missing
investment opportunities
which result in an adverse
impact on the value of the
Fund's assets

Ongoing
Capital &
Investments
Manager

Daily and weekly monitoring of Pension Fund's
Cashflows;    Currency Hedge requirements
monitored ahead of cash requirements.
TREAT
Additional Actions Proposed:
Improve quality of medium term cashflow
forecasting for the Fund.            

Partially
Effective 3 3 9

Work plan and information
requirements currently
being developed in
conjunction with other
Employers.   Also in
discussion with Actuary on
possible use of existing
information to aid cashflow
projections

P
age 11



Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board 10 December 2015 4 of 4

Controls Residual Risk Progress

No. Category Risk Causes/Triggers Consequences Proximity Risk Owner Current Controls Control
Assessment Impact Likeliho

od Score Actions as at 10/12/2015

Pension Fund - Risk Register

5.7 Administrative

Failure to keep pension
records up to date and
accurate resulting in failure
to provide high quality
pensions service to
members and may lead
incorrect pensions
information being issued or
incorrect benefits
calculations or payments

Failure to keep pension records up
to date and accurate

Incorrect records leading to
incorrect estimates being
issued and potentially
incorrect pensions being
paid.

Ongoing
HR Shared
Services
Manager

New pension administration system implemented;
Resourcelink continued to be used for pension
payments;
Staffing structure of HR Shared Services continues
to monitored to ensure adequate staffing and
knowledge maintained;
All HRSS staff fully trained in A to Z of Data
Protection and fully compliant with SBC Data control
requirements.

TREAT                                                                Additional
Action Proposed:                              Ensure
communication plan put in place to ensure
employees notify employers of any changes.

Partially
Effective 2 3 6

Annual information sent to
all members each August.
Communication plan to
further highlight to
employees the importance
of the requirement for
accurate information.

5.8 Administrative

Failure to communicate
effectively with stakeholders
in Pension Fund resulting in
inability to provide high
quality pensions service

Failure to communicate effectively
with stakeholders in Pension Fund

Scheme members not
aware of their rights
resulting in bad decisions;
Employers not aware of
regulations, procedures,
etc.

Ongoing

HR Shared
Services
Manager/
Capital &
Investments
Manager

Engagement in Scottish pension networks;
Union and Admitted body representation on the
PFSC;
Publication of annual report via website and printed
copies to all Scheduled and Admitted bodies.
TREAT                                                                Additional
Action Proposed:                              Implementation of
Communications Strategy.

Effective 2 3 6
Being developed in
conjunction with
Communication Team.

6.2 Regulatory &
Compliance

Changes in legislation and
other regulatory frameworks
may impact adversely on the
Fund in terms of funding
levels, benefits and
administrative and
governance burdens.

Changes in legislation and other
regulatory frameworks e.g. LGPS
regulations, Pensions Regulator,
HMRC

Loss of independence in
the management of the
Fund; Impact on Fund value
and benefits;   Increased
costs to the Fund, employer
contributions;  Potential
loss of active scheme
members

Ongoing

Chief
Financial
Officer/ Chief
Officer Human
Resources

Participation in active CIPFA and Scottish Pension
network allow changes and impacts to be identified
quickly;    Involvement with COSLA discussions on
Pensions.

TREAT                  
Additional Action Proposed:                                 Seek
to input into any of the legislative change through
active membership of COSLA.

Partially
Effective 4 4 16

Responding to all
consultations and
participating in all national
groups. Chief Financial
Officer active member of
Director of Finance group.

7.3 Reputation

Failure to appoint relevant
advisers and review their
performance may lead to
inappropriate management
of the Fund resulting from
poor advice to decision
makers

Failure to appoint relevant advisers
and review their performance 

Inappropriate management
of the Fund resulting from
poor advice to decision
makers; Failure to achieve
Pension Fund objectives.
Legal challenge

Ongoing

Chief
Financial
Officer/Chief
Officer Human
Resources

Identify requirements of external advisers and
appoint appropriately;
Engagement of WM as independent performance
monitoring for fund.
TOLERATE
Additional Action Required:
Implement annual review of Adviser.

Effective 2 2 4

Reviewing current and
ongoing requirements from
all advisors to then
undertake procurements
where necessary and agree
performance measures.

7.4 Reputation

Delays in implementation of
decisions resulting in
reducing the effectiveness
of the decision and
potentially adversely
impacting on the ability to
maximise investment
returns

Delays in implementation of
decisions 

Reducing the effectiveness
of the decision;  Potentially
adversely impacting on the
ability to maximise
investment returns;  Loss
incurred or reduced income
received 

Ongoing

Chief
Financial
Officer/Chief
Officer Human
Resources

Decisions minuted and appropriate staff assigned to
implement;  Agreed actions monitored by
Democratic Services;  Implementation timescales
priorities according to risk levels and available
resources levels.   Business Plan 2015/16 - 2017/18
approved.

TREAT                                                             Delivery of
Business Plan to allow early identification and
allocation of staff resources to actions.

Partially
Effective 3 3 9

Business plan approved in
June 2015 and being
monitored.

P
age 12



Joint meeting of Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

BUSINESS PLAN PERFORMANCE UPDATE

Report by Chief Financial Officer

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE & PENSION BOARD

10 December 2015

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This report is to provide members of the Committee and the Board 
with an update on the actions within the approved Business Plan.

1.2 The 2015/16 – 2017/18 Business Plan for the pension fund was approved 
by the Committee/Board on 18th June 2015.  Included within the plan were 
key objectives and actions with target dates.

1.3 As part of the risk register update approved at Committee/Board on 3 
September it was agreed a mid-year progress report on the business plan 
actions would be presented to Members at the December meeting and a 
further progress report and update at the June 2016 meeting.

1.4 There are 13 performance measures with target dates during 2015/16 
contained within the business plan.  These are detailed in Appendix 1 with 
a progress update.  As at 10 December 6 performance measurements have 
been completed, 6 are on track to complete within their targeted 
timescales and 1 is currently behind target but progressing.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is  recommend that the Pension Fund Committee and Pension 
Board:-

(a) Notes the progress of the 2015/16 actions within the 
business plan

(b) Agrees a further update be presented at the June 2016 
meeting

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



Joint meeting of Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

3 BACKGROUND 

3.1 Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) administering authorities are 
required to prepare, publish and maintain statements of compliance 
against a set of six principles for pension fund investment, scheme 
governance, discloser and consultation.  These are referred to as the 
“Myners Principles” and the reporting on compliance, as required by the 
LGPS Regulations, must be included in the Statement of Investment 
Principles.

3.2 Best practice suggests that having a business plan for the Pension Fund is 
a good way of demonstrating compliance with the “Myners Principle” that 
underpin effective decision making.  The Pension Fund Committee and 
Board approved the 2015/16 – 2017/18 business plan on 18 June. 

3.3 As part of the risk register update approved by Committee on 3 September 
it was agreed a progress report on the actions contained within the 
business plan would be reported to the Committee and Board at the 
December meeting.

4 ACTION PLAN

4.1 The action plan detailed how we would measure the achievement of the 
objectives.  Appendix 1 shows these for actions required to be completed 
in 2015/16 and provides an update on each individual measure.

4.2 There are 13 performance measurements due for completion during 
2015/16.  Of these 6 are fully complete and 6 are on track to complete by 
the approved target date.  The communication strategy and action plan 
target date is 31 December 2015, however due to other work pressures 
will not be ready for approval until the March 2016 meeting.

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial

(a) There are no financial implications to this report.

5.2 Risk and Mitigations

(a) This report is part of the governance framework to manage the 
operation of the Pension Fund and ensure effective decision making.

5.3 Equalities

(a) No equalities issues have been identified for the measures currently 
undertaken with the Business Plan.  If any future measures identifies 
where there is a potential for the requirement for an Equalities 
Impact Assessment, this will be undertaken at the time of 
undertaking the work proposed in the Plan.

Page 14



Joint meeting of Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

5.4 Acting Sustainably

(a) There are no direct economic, social or environmental issues with 
this reports which would affect the Council’s sustainability.

5.5 Carbon Management

(a) There are no direct carbon emissions impacts as a result of this 
report.

5.6 Rural Proofing 

(a) It is anticipated there will be no adverse impact on the rural area 
from the proposals contained in this report. 

5.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

(a) No changes are required as a result of this report.

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 The Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, the Service Director 
Strategy and Policy, the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Chief Officer HR, 
and the Clerk to the Council have been consulted on the report and their 
comments have been incorporated.

Approved by

David Robertson Signature …………………………………
Chief Financial Officer

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Kirsty Robb Capital & Investment Manager, 01835 825249

Background Papers:  Pension Fund Business Plan 2015/16 – 2017/18
Previous Minute Reference:  Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 3 Sept 
2015

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  The Treasury & Capital Team can 
also give information on other language translations as well as providing additional 
copies.

Contact us at Capital & Investments Team, Council Headquarters, Newtown St 
Boswells, Melrose, TD6 PSA 
Tel: 01835 825016 
email: treasuryteam@scotborders .gov.uk

Page 15



Joint meeting of Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

Our Action Plan APPENDIX 1

What we want to achieve … (Objective)

Set levels of employer contribution that will build up a fund of assets that will be sufficient to meet all future benefit payments from the Fund, and invest in assets 
that grows the Fund’s assets in a such a way that produces levels of employer contribution that are as stable as possible

How? By whom?
Action 
No.

How we will achieve our objective … (Action) How we will know we have achieved our 
objective … (Performance Indicator)

PI ref. Owner Target Progress

P 1 Review Pension Strategies informed by 2014 Triennial Valuation Results

Approval and implementation of 2014 
Triennial Valuation employer contribution 
results, including update of Funding Strategy 
Statement

Pension Fund Committee approval of 
employer contribution rates

Correct employer contribution rates in 
Pensions System for each employer

Pension Fund Committee approval of 
Funding Strategy Statement

P-1-B1

P-1-B2

P-1-B3

C F Manager

C F Manager

C F Manager

By 30/6/15

By 30/6/15

By 30/6/15

Completed

Completed

Completed

Fund Investment Performance at 
Benchmark

Attain or Exceed Benchmark return on 
annualised 3 Year Rolling Basis P-1-A1 C F Manager

Exceeded as 
at 30 Sept 

2015.

P
age 16



Joint meeting of Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

What we want to achieve … (Objective)

Deliver a High Quality Pension Service to Members

How? By whom?
Action 
No.

How we will achieve our objective … (Action) How we will know we have achieved our 
objective … (Performance Indicator)

PI ref. Owner Target Progress

P 2 Develop and Implement an effective Communication Strategy for the Pension Fund
Develop and gain approval Communication 
Strategy and Action Plan

Pension Fund Committee approved 
Communication Strategy and Action Plan P-2-A1 HRSS Manager 31/12/15

In development with 
Communication 

Team

Proactively manage and engage Pension 
Fund Employers Hold Annual Employer Liaison Meeting P-2-A2 HRSS Manager

1 
meetings 

by 
31/3/16

Meeting scheduled 
for February 2016

Review all forms and communication 
material, including annual benefit 
statements

HRSS Manager

Develop content of Pensions presence on 
the Council's website Updated content on Pensions website P-2-A3

HRSS Manager/ 
C & I Manager 31/3/16

Will be developed as 
part of comm’s 

strategy
P 3 Implement the new LGPS Scheme 

Implementation of pension administration 
system changes required for new scheme

HRSS Manager

Development of brief scheme booklet for all 
current and prospective members

HRSS Manager

Review In-Year and Year-End reporting 
requirements for Employer

HRSS Manager

P
age 17



Joint meeting of Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

What we want to achieve … (Objective)

Ensure that Scottish Borders Pension Fund is managed effectively, transparently and compliantly

How? By whom?
Action 
No.

How we will achieve our objective … (Action) How we will know we have achieved our 
objective … (Performance Indicator)

Owner Target Progress

P 6 Continue to develop robust governance and risk management

Effective implementation of Pension Board 
and Pension Fund Investments and 
Performance Sub-Committee

Pension Fund Committee approval of 
Governance Policy and Compliance 
Statement 2015

C F Manager Approved 
18/6/15

Review and update Governance Policy and 
Compliance Statement

Training Needs Self-Assessment Levels from 
2014/15 to 2017/18 P-6-A1 C F Manager 30/6/15 Approved 

18/6/15

Review and update Training Policy to 
incorporate Pension Boards

Pension Fund Committee approval of 
Training Policy 2015 and Training 
Programme 2015/16

P-6-A5 C & I Manager
Improve 

knowledge 
assessment

Training plan 
approved 
18/6/15

Develop and deliver 2015/16 - 2017/18 
Training Programme

Audit & Risk Committee and Pension Fund 
Committee approval of Pension Fund 
Financial Regulations

P-6-A2 C & I Manager 30/6/15 Approved 
18/6/15

Develop and Implement separate Financial 
Regulations for the Pension Fund

Pension Fund Committee approval of 
Pensions Administration Strategy P-6-A4 C & I Manager 31/3/16 Currently being 

developed

Review and update Pensions Administration 
Strategy P-6-A3 HRSS Manager 30/9/15 Approved 3/9/15

P 7 Review services provided externally to ensure that these represent best value to the Fund

Develop and implement an annual 
assessment cycle of Investment Adviser and 
Officer support to the Pension Fund 
Committee and Pension Fund Board

Undertake first annual assessment of 
Investment Adviser and Officer Support to 
Committee and Board

P-7-A1 C & I Manager
Assessment 

criteria currently 
being developed.

P
age 18



Joint meeting of Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

Action 
No.

How we will achieve our objective … (Action) How we will know we have achieved our 
objective … (Performance Indicator)

PI ref. Owner Target Progress

Identify requirements for investment and 
performance advisory services and procure 
new contract(s)

C & I Manager

Using Norfolk 
framework to 
issue tender docs 
Jan 2016

Identify requirements for custody services 
and procure new contract C & I Manager

Commenced 
review of 
requirements

Identify requirements for Currency Hedging 
and procure new contract

C & I Manager

Draft IMA being 
developed prior 
to 
commencement 
of procurement

Identify requirements for Actuarial Services 
and procure new contract

HRSS 
Manager/ C&I 
Manager

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

PROCUREMENT UPDATE

Report by Chief Financial 

Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board

10 December 2015

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide members with an update on 
the various procurement activities to be undertaken for the 
Pension Fund over the next 12 months.

1.2 Identified within the Business Plan approved by Committee on the 18 June 
2015 there were three procurements to be undertaken. These were 
Investment Advisor, Custodian and Currency Manager.
 

1.3 The current split of services procured by the fund requires to be reviewed 
prior to the commencement of the procurements to ensure the fund can 
meet its statutory reporting requirements and ensure best value from all 
services is obtained.

1.4 The Appointments Sub-Committee will work with officers during the 
procurements and make recommendations to the Pension Fund Committee 
and Board on the individual preferred bidders.

1.5 To reduce timescales without adversely affecting the quality of the 
procurement it is proposed for the Investment Advisor and the Custody 
services to use the Norfolk Framework.

1.6 To reduce timescales for the currency hedge manager an Investment 
Management Agreement (IMA) is being developed.  This will reduce the 
risks and time required for clarifications and final contract award.

2 STATUS OF REPORT

2.1 Due to the ongoing discussions and clarifications with Norfolk Pension Fund 
this report is currently undergoing the consultation process. 

3 RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 It is recommended the Committee and Board

(a) Approve the use of the Norfolk framework for the 
Investment Advisor and Custody procurements

(b) Approve the payment of the joining fees; and

(c) Notes further reports and updates will be provided at the 
March meeting.

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

4 BACKGROUND

4.1 The Pension Fund Business Plan approved by Committee on 18 June 2015 
identified some key procurement activities to be undertaken during the 
year 2015/16.  These were Investment Advisor, Custodian and Currency 
Manager.

4.2 Norfolk Pension Fund established a framework for a number of Pension 
fund services which any LGPS can join.  The framework has packages for 
both Investment Advisors and Custodians which the fund can access.  To 
access the framework requires a one off membership fee depending on 
the package required.

4.3 The Pension Fund Committee on 11 December 2012 approved the 
establishment of an Appointments Sub Committee to work with officers 
on all procurements required for the Pension Fund.  This Appointment 
Sub Committee would make recommendations for contract award to the 
Pension Fund Committee.  The nominated Members on the Sub 
Committee are Councillor White, Councillor Mitchell, Councillor Logan and 
Councillor Mountford.

4.4 The current custodian agreement is for very limited services, which is 
augmented with Performance Management services provided by WM and 
quarterly performance reports provided by Aon Hewitt.  This has worked 
well for the fund in the past. However due to the increased reporting 
complexity of the statutory reporting requirements and the increased 
number of fund managers it is proposed the current service split if 
reviewed prior to commencing the procurements.

5 PROCURMENTS

5.1 With the increase in the statutory accounting requirements and the 
increased number of investment managers there is a need to review the 
current services procured.  To also insure best value is maintained a full 
review of all reporting, accounting and custody services is required prior 
to commencement of the procurements.  Officers will undertake a review 
and report to the Appointments Sub Committee recommendation as soon 
as possible.

5.2 Investment Advisor 
Due to the requirement to undertake a full investment strategy review 
this procurement will be undertaken first.  The procurement will also 
include services for regular investment support to the fund Committee 
and Board.  The use of the Norfolk Framework will allow for a shortened 
procurement exercise without affecting the quality of the procurement 
checks.  The shortened process requires a 6 to 8 weeks mini tender 
process to be undertaken.  It is proposed Officers prepare the 
documentation required prior to Christmas and commence the 
procurement in January.  The shortlisted companies would then present 
to Members of the Appointments Sub Committee in March, with 
recommendation to Pension Fund Committee and Board on 23rd March. 

Page 22



Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

5.3 Custody, accounting and Performance
Following the review of the split of custody, accounting and performance 
split Officers will use the Norfolk Framework to undertake the 
procurement in conjunction with the Appointments Sub Committee 
following completion of the Investment Advisor procurement.

5.4 Currency Manager
The current contract with State Street for currency management can be 
extended but is a 50% passive hedge.  The future currency hedge will be 
a 50% hedge split between active and passive.  To allow for the 
commencement of the Investment Management Agreement is being 
developed by external legal specialists.  This will reduce the time during 
procurement for clarifications on the Terms and Conditions.  It is 
anticipated this will be complete February and procurement will 
commence March. 

6 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 To enable the Pension Fund to use the Norfolk framework there is a one 
off joining fee for each individual framework.  The joining fees are £5,000 
for the Investment Advisor and £8,000 for the Custodian.  The fund can 
then use the frameworks as often as required.  This cost is offset by the 
reduced timescales and officer time.

6.2 The proposed review of the split of services between the Investment 
Advisor, Custodian and performance report reporting may result in a 
change to the services procured and the result costs.  Officers will identify 
the best value route for the split prior to the commencement of the 
procurements.

6.2 Risk and Mitigations
The purpose of this is report is to provide members with an update of the 
procurements identified in the Business Case.  The services covered by 
the procurement provide the fund with security of its investments and 
professional advice to ensure the most prudent investment strategy is 
undertaken.  These roles are key functions within the funds risk 
mitigation plan.

6.3 Equalities
It is anticipated that there are no adverse impacts due to race, disability, 
gender, age, sexual orientation or religion/belief arising from the 
proposals in this report

6.4 Acting Sustainably

There are no direct economic, social or environmental issues with this 
report which would affect the Council’s sustainability policy.

Page 23



Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

6.5 Carbon Management

There are no direct carbon emissions impacts as a result of this report.

6.6 Rural Proofing 
It is anticipated there will be no adverse impact on the rural area from the 
proposals contained in this report.

6.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation
No changes to the Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation are 
required as a result of this report.

7 CONSULTATION

7.1 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Service Director Strategy and Policy, the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, 
the Chief Officer HR and the Clerk to the Council are being consulted and 
any comments received will be highlighted at the meeting.

Approved by

David Robertson Signature …………………………………
Chief Financial Officer

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Kirsty Robb Capital and Investment Manager, 01835 825249

Background Papers:  
Previous Minute Reference:  

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  The Capital and Investment Team 
can also give information on other language translations as well as providing 
additional copies.

Contact us at Capital and Investment Team, Council Headquarters, Newtown St 
Boswells, Melrose, TD6 0SA: 01835 825016, fax 01835 825166. Email 
treasuryteam@scotborders.gov.uk 

Page 24

mailto:treasuryteam@scotborders.gov.uk


Joint meeting of Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

EMPLOYER CESSATIONS

Briefing Paper by Chief Financial Officer

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE & PENSION BOARD

10 December 2015

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This briefing paper is provide to members of the Committee and the 
Board with an update on the current issue some pension funds are 
facing with cessations and the national discussion around these.

2 BACKGROUND 

2.1 Under the Local Government Pension Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2014 
there are certain circumstances where revised actuarial valuations and 
certificates must be obtained.  This includes where a Scheme employer 
ceases to be part of the scheme or no longer has active members 
contributing to the fund.  The Employer becomes an “exiting employer” 
under the regulations and is liable to pay an exit payment.

2.2 For each “exiting employer” the administering authority must obtain an 
actuarial valuation of the liabilities, as at the exit date, in respect of the 
employer’s current and former employees.  This valuation will revise 
contribution rates and provide an exit payment in respect of the benefits 
liability.

2.3 To ensure the Pension Fund is not at risk for these liabilities the “exiting 
employer” is then required to either pay the exit payment or provide an 
indemnity, bond or guarantee.

Page 25

Agenda Item 9



Joint meeting of Pension Fund Committee & Pension Board, 10 December 2015 

3 CURRENT DISCUSSION

3.1 There have been a number of Pension Funds across Scotland which 
recently experienced the requirement to request these exit payments.  
However, concerns have been raised by the “exiting employer” about the 
operational impact on the organisations due to competing financial 
pressures and the value of the required payment in relation to the 
organisations total annual budget.

3.2 Discussions have been held with the Scottish Government to further 
augment some element of flexibilities in the regulations to assist both 
administering bodies and “exiting employers”.  The changes to the 
regulations will be in force in December 2015, however John Swinney has 
issued a letter, attached in APPENDIX 1, to instruct administering bodies 
to take cognizance of the changes now when considering any cessation 
liabilities.
 

3.3 The Scheme Advisory Board has also been asked to carry out a detailed 
assessment of the issue which may result in further policy guidance to be 
considered.

4 SCOTTISH BORDERS PENSION FUND POSITION 

4.1 There are currently 7 employers within the Scottish Borders Pension fund 
who have no active members and are therefore under the legislation 
“exiting employers”.  The numbers of pension and deferred members in 
this category is 0.36% of the total membership.  The table below details 
the employers and their individual numbers

Employer Deferred Pensioners Total
Tweed River Purification 4 3 7
College of Textiles 1 19 20
Red Cross 1 1
Project 80 (Burnfoot) 1 1
Stable Life (GYP) 1 1 2
SB Careers 3 1 4
Berwickshire Housing Assoc 1 1
Total 9 27 36

4.2 Due to the low numbers the Pension Fund has not historically requested 
the existing employers to either pay the exit payment or provide an 
indemnity, bond or guarantee.

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Kirsty Robb Capital & Investment Manager, 01835 825249

Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29

Agenda Item 10



Page 30



FW: Correspondence from the Local Government and Regeneration Committee of the 
Scottish Parliament - Response by Scottish Borders Council 
FAO Ms Menzies- Smith

Email:  Dated 11 June 2015

Dear Ms Menzies-Smith.  

Please find attached a response to your communication of 15 May sent on behalf of Scottish 
Borders pension Fund. A statement of our previous and updated draft statement of 
investment principles is attached. 

1. The Committee would find it helpful if you could provide a copy of your Statement of 
Investment Principles.

Copy of Scottish Borders Council’s Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 
attached.

2. When your Statement is next due for review;

The Scottish Borders Statement of Investment Principles is being updated for the 
recent legislation changes, this will go the Committee on 18 June 2015 and therefore 
the attachment is draft until approved.  However there is an intention to do a more 
comprehensive review by 31 March 2016.  The current version of the SIP also 
attached was approved in 2013.

3. Details of your social, environmental or ethical policy, and how it is implemented 
having regard to fiduciary duties;

In accordance with the Statement of Investment Principles the Scottish Borders 
Pension Fund has delegated authority for social, environmental or ethical policy 
issues to the appointed investment fund managers as set out in the SIP.

4. If you have no such policy, details of how your fund deals with social, environmental 
or ethical considerations.

These are set out in the statement of investment principles.

5. Details of any investment you have made in Scottish or UK infrastructure projects;

No direct investments made to date. The Scottish Borders Pension Fund invests in 
infrastructure projects through a Diversified Growth Fund via a mandate with UBS 
and also through the property element of our Alternatives Mandate held by our 
Investment Manager LGT. All investment decisions are made by the appointed 
Investment Fund Manager. 

6. Whether your Fund has considered investing in the Pensions Infrastructure Platform 
when it opens to non-founder members;

The fund does not hold any direct investments in infrastructure and has not 
considered investing in the Pensions Infrastructure Platform.

Page 31

Agenda Item 11a



7. Whether your Fund has worked in partnership with other Scottish Local Government 
Pension Funds to invest in Scottish or UK infrastructure projects;

The fund has not to date worked in partnership with other Scottish Local Government 
Pension Funds to invest in Scottish or UK infrastructure projects.  The key issue 
limiting participation being investment returns vis a vis investment in other asset 
classes and the early stage of development of the Platform 

8. Details of the current barriers to investing in infrastructure projects.

The key issue is the comparative investment returns available via public sector 
infrastructure projects when compared to other forms of investment.  

The availability of finance has not been noted as a specific barrier to infrastructure 
investment; income certainty, risk and project affordability are considered to be more 
material barriers.  

A key consideration for public authorities seeking to access pension fund finance will 
be the cost of such capital when compared to borrowing from other sources e.g. the 
PWLB or the commercial bank senior debt.

There are to date few examples of direct infrastructure investment  by Scottish 
Pension Funds although it is understood that some of the larger funds e.g. 
Strathclyde has an element of their fund currently allocated to such direct 
investment.  Such an approach would only be recommended in Scottish Borders as 
part of a balanced investment strategy given the relatively illiquid form of this 
investment class and the risks and timescales involved.  

Significant diligence would be required before the Fund could invest directly in 
infrastructure projects given the risk profile of such investment.   This would place  an 
additional  burden (with associated costs) on pension funds.  A due diligence process 
to evaluate risk effectively associated with direct investment in infrastructure has not 
to date been developed. One consideration may be whether pensions would be 
willing to invest in projects at design, construction or operational phase - the risk 
profile being different in each case.

Yours sincerely

David Robertson
Chief Financial Officer
Scottish Borders Council

Page 32



SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL 
PENSION FUND
STATEMENT OF 

INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES
2013

Finance
Chief Executive Department

Version 1.0
Approved : Pension Fund Committee 4 December 2013

Page 33



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 2 of 22 

Introduction
This is the Statement of Investment Principles (the SIP) adopted by the Scottish Borders Council to 
govern the investment operations of its Pension Fund.  It covers the matters required by regulations 
together with certain other aspects of investment management, which it is felt should be included for 
the sake of completeness.  

This version of the SIP was agreed by the Pension Fund Committee (the Committee) of Scottish 
Borders Council on 4 December 2013.

1. The statutory requirements concerning the SIP
1.1 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds)(Scotland) 

Regulations 1998 as amended require administering authorities to prepare, maintain and 
publish a Statement of Investment Principles (SIP) that includes the policy on:

 The types of investment to be held
 The balance between different types of investment
 The risk considerations, including the ways in which risks are to 

be measured and managed1

 The expected return on investments
 Realising of investments
 Taking account of social, environmental or ethical considerations 

in investments
 Exercising the rights (including voting rights) attaching to 

investments 
 Stock Lending1

1.2 The Statement must also state the extent of compliance with guidance given by the Scottish 
Ministers. This guidance requires reference to the 6 principles of investment practice 
published by CIPFA in December 2009.1 

1 “Investment Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local Government Pension Scheme: A Guide to the Application of the 
Myners Principles (2009)”

Page 34



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 3 of 22 

2. Governance
2.1 The Scottish Borders Council is the “administering authority” for the Scottish Borders Council 

Pension Fund (the Fund).

2.2 The Committee of Scottish Borders Council has delegated responsibility for the supervision 
of the Fund.  Members of this Committee are “Quasi-trustees” of the Fund.  Full details of the 
governance arrangements can be found in the Fund’s Governance Statement2.

2.3 The key investment responsibilities of the Committee are contained in Appendix 1.

2.4 The SIP sets out the principles governing decisions about the investments of the Fund.  The 
Fund recognises the importance of corporate governance and responsibility in ensuring the 
long term financial performance of the organisations in which they invest.

2.5 The SIP forms part of a framework that includes:

 The Statutory Regulations
 The Pension Fund Committee
 The Fund’s Advisers
 The Funding Strategy Statement2
and 
 The Governance Compliance Statement.

2.6 Underlying the SIP and the Council’s related decision making processes is the requirement 
that the Council must obtain and consider “proper advice” and this is provided by Council 
Officers and expert, professional advisers under contract to the Council.

2 Copies of the approved Funding Strategy Statement,, the Governance Compliance Statement and the Statement of 
Investment Principles can be accessed at www.scotborders.gov.uk/pensions .

Page 35

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/pensions


Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 4 of 22 

3. The Fund’s Objectives
Primary Aim

3.1 The primary aim of the Fund is:

“To provide for members’ pension and lump sum benefits on their retirement or for their 
dependants’ benefits on death before or after retirement, on a defined benefits basis.”

In order that this primary objective can be achieved, the following funding and investment 
objectives have been agreed.

Funding Objectives

3.2 The funding objectives are set out in the Funding Strategy Statement (the FSS) and are as 
follows:

i To set levels of employer contribution that will build up a Fund of assets that will be 
sufficient to meet all future benefit payments from the Fund.

ii To build up the required assets in a way that produces employer contributions, which are 
as stable as possible.

3.3 The funding objectives must complement the Fund’s investment strategy so that the 
appropriate amount of risk is adopted in the pursuit of investment returns.

Page 36



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 5 of 22 

4. Investment Policy 
Investment Strategy

4.1 The Committee sets an investment strategy for the Fund, taking into account the funding 
status and liabilities.  The strategy is subject to regular review and, as appropriate, asset 
liability modelling techniques are used to assist in these reviews. 

4.2 The investment strategy’s primary aim is to deliver the funding objective in Section 3.2 ii) 
above which is to build up the required assets in a way that produces stable employer 
contributions to the Fund.  

4.3 The Committee in pursuing this primary aim will, as far as is practicable and as an aid to 
long-term stability, seek to maintain a positive ratio of assets to liabilities at each actuarial 
valuation.

4.4 The FSS states that the discount rate that is adopted in the actuarial valuation of the Fund’s 
liabilities is derived by considering the expected return from the underlying investment 
strategy but makes no allowance for additional returns from active management.  The 
strategic benchmark that is established for the Fund’s investment strategy is therefore 
expected to produce a return over the long term in excess of the investment return assumed 
in the triennial Actuarial Valuations.

4.5 The Fund presently enjoys a positive cash flow and currently has more actively contributing 
members compared to members receiving pensions.  It however also has 2,242 deferred 
members which are currently neither contributing nor receiving – as a result it is not mature 
and therefore need not, at present, provide a high level of annual income to meet the cost of 
benefits.  It will therefore continue to seek capital growth to meet future liabilities.

4.6 The investment strategy for the Fund has been developed with the support of external 
investment advisers who have supported the Committee in their decision making process.  
The approved investment strategy is presented as a strategic asset allocation which sets 
benchmark percentage allocations across the various asset classes.

4.7 In establishing strategic asset allocations the Committee recognises that it is not possible at 
reasonable cost to consistently hold investments of a type that maintains an exact match 
with the Fund’s liabilities to pensioners and other members.

4.8 The Committee will undertake a full review exercise, taking into account the funding status 
and liabilities and using asset liability modelling if appropriate, at least once per three year 
period.  The Committee undertook the last review in 2009 and agreed a revised investment 
strategy in 2010.  The required review was again undertaken in March 2013 resulting in the 
revised strategy contained in this SIP.  The Committee will require the Investment 
Consultants to provide an annual letter of comfort in relation to the strategic asset allocation.

4.9 Appendix 2 contains a summary of the strategic asset allocation benchmark for the Fund.

Page 37



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 6 of 22 

Investment Management Arrangements

4.10 The investment strategy is implemented by employing external investment managers 
currently UBS Global Asset Management (UBS), LGT Partners (LGT), Morgan Stanley 
Investment Management (Morgan Stanley) and Baillie Gifford, as appropriate.

4.11 The objective is to employ a combination of managers and investment mandates that will 
deliver, in aggregate, the target performance for the Fund.

4.12 The Committee sets the target for the Fund and this overall target is expressed as an out 
performance against the Fund’s strategic benchmark which is a composite of the various 
benchmarks for the different managers and asset allocations.

4.13 The pursuit of a target implies active management of a substantial part of the Fund and the 
acceptance of a degree of risk in managing investments. 

4.14 The Fund’s current total target is to generate a return of at least 2.9% above RPI inflation 
assumed as the real discount rate at the actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2011.

4.15 The investment managers are responsible for the selection of individual holdings within each 
type of investment category within the parameters set out in their agreement which includes 
the need to achieve targets which are measured.

4.16 The Fund holds some Council Bonds and temporary cash, which are managed by Finance 
staff.

4.17 The Committee determines the distribution of the Fund for investment purposes from time to 
time.

4.18 Appendix 3 contains details of the investment arrangements that are in place at the 31 March 
2013. 

Risk Measurement and Management

4.19 Asset Allocation

i The key investment risks are recognised as arising from asset allocation.  The 
investment strategy of lowest funding risk would be 100% investment in duration, 
matched index-linked government bonds, i.e. the most natural “matching” asset for 
pensions liabilities.  However, this is not necessarily the most cost-effective approach.  

ii In the long-term, investment in assets of calculated risk is likely to produce higher returns 
and therefore reduce the overall cost of funding the pension liabilities.  Following this 
rationale, the Fund deliberately runs an unmatched strategy which is heavily biased 
towards “growth” assets such as equities, property and other alternative assets. 

iii The asset allocation risks are assessed triennially, typically using asset liability modelling 
techniques following the actuarial valuation of the Fund, after which the Committee take 
advice on the continued appropriateness of the existing investment strategy.  

iv As these risks were assessed as part of the asset and liability modelling exercise 
undertaken in 2009 by the Fund’s investment consultant, it is envisaged that this will next 
be done during 2014-2015 following the actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2014. 

Page 38



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 7 of 22 

v The retrospective impact of investment risk on the Fund’s funding position is monitored 
on a quarterly basis via investment reports prepared by the Fund’s investment 
managers, the Fund’s performance monitoring company and the investment consultants. 

4.20 Investment Managers

i To reduce the risk that the Fund significantly underperforms, performance and risk 
targets and controls are set for each manager relative to their benchmark.  These are set 
out in formal Investment Management Agreements with each of the appointed managers.

ii The managers are required to provide data monthly and report quarterly on portfolio 
management issues.  This information is reported to the Committee on a quarterly basis.  
The monitoring includes assessing their achievement of performance that meets or out 
performs their individual targets. 

iii The managers must also provide data to WM Performance Services, the company 
chosen by the Committee to provide it with independent performance comparisons.

iv The managers are also required to attend at the Committee at least twice a year to give 
an account of their activities and performance.

v The managers must comply with all lawful instructions given to them by the Committee 
(in accordance with the mandates agreed) and their contracts can be terminated at no 
more than one month’s notice.

vi All manager mandates will always impose the investment restrictions contained in the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations.

4.21 Advisers

i The Committee is required to secure proper advice to ensure that their decision making 
processes are appropriately informed.  The current advisers to the Fund are:

Investment Consultant Aon Hewitt Limited

Actuaries Barnett Waddingham

4.22 Concentration Risk and Diversification

i Concentration risk arises from the failure of any investments which constituted a 
significant proportion of the Fund’s assets.  In order to reduce this risk a spread of assets 
is held.  The diversification is both within, and across, the major asset classes and will be 
enhanced through investment in alternative asset classes.

ii Diversification is used to manage the risk involved in pursuing an active management 
approach to a substantial part of the fund.  

iii This is achieved through diversification of investment over various types of asset, by the 
use of at least two managers with different styles or specialism, and by requiring a wide 
range of individual stocks and shares to be held.

Page 39



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 8 of 22 

4.23 Transition Management Arrangements

i A specialist transition manager will be employed to manage complex changes in 
investment strategy and/or manager(s). 

ii The use of these specialists is intended to reduce the cost of transition to the Fund and 
minimise the overall impact on the Fund value at the point of transition.

4.24 Currency Risk

i During 2009 the Committee approved the commencement of a Passive Currency 
Hedging mandate to hedge 50% of the currency exposure within the overseas equity 
portfolios.

ii The mandate is operated by State Street Global Advisors within a 5% tolerance which is 
monitored monthly and generates a realised gain or loss quarterly.

iii The key purpose of the passive hedging is to reduce the short term volatility in the 
Fund’s asset valuations which results from currency movements.

iv In March 2012 the Committee approved a refinement to hedge 25% of currency risk 
using a passive approach and 25% using an active approach to maintain an overall 
benchmark hedge ratio of 50% of the currency exposure within the overseas equity 
portfolios but allow some flexibility to the ratio to reflect the active currency hedging 
manager’s views, and aim to reduce payments made from the Fund when sterling is 
weakening.  A procurement will be undertaken during 2013-14 to allow implementation of 
this approach.

4.25 Safe Keeping of Assets

i The services of a global custodian, currently J.P. Morgan, are employed to ensure the 
safeguarding of the Fund’s assets and ensure that all associated income is collected.

ii The Fund is provided with statements of assets, cashflow and transactions, which 
Finance staff reconcile to data reported by the managers.

iii The custodian also has a responsibility for keeping the Council informed of any concerns 
arising in its dealings with the investment managers.

iv Investment in pooled funds managed by UBS, Morgan Stanley and LGT gives the Fund 
a right to the cash value of the units rather than to the underlying assets.  UBS, as 
manager of the pooled funds, is  responsible for the appointment and monitoring of the 
custodian of the pooled funds’ assets.  

4.26 Cashflow Risk and Realisation of Investments/Liquidity

i The overall liquidity of the Fund is considered in the light of potential demands for cash.  
The Fund will hold sufficient cash to meet the likely benefit payments.  Additionally, the 
Fund will hold sufficient assets in liquid or readily realisable form to meet any unexpected 
cashflow requirements so that the realisation of assets will not disrupt the Fund’s overall 
policy.

Page 40



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 9 of 22 

ii The majority of the Fund’s investments are quoted on major stock markets and may be 
realised relatively quickly if required.  

iii A small proportion of the Fund’s investments, in particular Property, and future 
investments in other alternative assets would take longer to be realised.  

5. Types of Investment
5.1 The Fund has approval from the Committee to use the following different types of investment 

and income generating mechanisms to achieve the overall investment objectives:

 Equities (UK, Overseas and Global mandates including direct holdings, Managed Funds, 
Unit trusts, Investment Trusts, Open Ended Investment Companies)

 Bonds
 UK Property
 Currency
 Alternative assets such as commodities, hedge funds, infrastructure, emerging market 

debt, private equity, high yield debt and convertible bonds.
 Cash (including Treasury Bills and Money Market Funds)
 Derivatives  and other Managed transactions

5.2 Stock Lending is not currently authorised by the Committee for the directly held investments 
under the custody of its custodian.  For the Fund’s investments in pooled funds managed by 
UBS, UBS participate in a stock lending programme where the revenue is reflected in the 
unit price.  UBS AG (the parent company) acts as the principal counterparty so irrespective 
of the end borrower UBS’ counterparty risk is only to UBS AG.  Security is provided for the 
stock loaned by the borrower transferring ownership of other collateral assets to UBS for the 
period of the loan.

6. Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Issues
6.1 The Committee has an overriding fiduciary duty to maximise investment returns for the 

benefit of the Fund members.  It is aware that in doing so the financial contributions required 
of Fund employers will be minimised.

6.2 The Committee believes that environmental, social and governance issues can affect the 
financial performance of companies and that it has a responsibility to take these issues 
seriously and where appropriate, to act upon them.

6.3 The Committee considers engagement with companies in which the Fund invests to be the 
most effective means of understanding and influencing the social, environmental and 
business policies of those companies.  The investment managers for the Fund are therefore 
encouraged to constructively engage with companies on issues which are consistent with the 
Fund’s fiduciary responsibilities.

6.4 The Committee recognises its responsibility to exercise voting rights to ensure transparency 
and accountability in corporate governance.

6.5 The Fund’s investment managers maintain close contact with the management of companies 
in which investments are held or contemplated and subject their affairs to considerable 
analysis and skilled scrutiny.  In recognition of this activity, the Sub-Committee delegates to 
its managers all voting and other rights attaching to Fund investments.  

Page 41



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 10 of 22 

6.6 The investment managers have delegated powers to exercise such rights in the best 
financial interests of the Fund and would in particular expect them to vote appropriately at 
company Annual General Meetings (AGMs) and Extraordinary General Meetings (EGMs).

6.7 The Committee has, however, drawn the attention of managers to its general concern that 
the remuneration practices of companies should be patently fair and reasonable.  It has 
asked that managers reflect such concern when voting shares in companies in which the 
Fund is directly invested. The Committee is content to allow its managers discretion on the 
voting of in-house pooled fund shares subject to referring any matters relating to the 
remuneration of Fund managers to it for direction

7. Audit responsibilities

7.1 The Pension Fund is subject to review by both the Council’s external auditors and the 
Internal Audit team.

7.2 The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council’s Pension Fund, 
for the year then ended.  Their audit report is formally presented to the Council each year.  A 
detailed Annual Report of the Pension Fund is produced in addition and circulated to 
employers and other interested parties.  This derives information from both audited accounts 
and unaudited sources of background information.

7.3 The Internal Audit team carries out a programme of work designed to re-assure the Chief 
Executive and Chief Financial Officer that Pension Fund investment systems and records 
are properly controlled and that Pension Fund assets are safeguarded.

8. Compliance with the Myners principles
8.1 In October 2008 the Treasury report Updating the Myners Principles: A Response to 

Consultation (October 2008) created the requirement for Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) administering authorities to prepare, publish and maintain statements of 
compliance against a set of six principles for pension fund investment, scheme governance, 
disclosure and consultation.  

8.2 In December 2009, CIPFA issued Investment Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local 
Government Pension Scheme: A Guide to the Application of the Myners Principles. 

8.3 The consultation draft of the LGPS amended regulations requires any future SIP to contain 
this statement of compliance with the six principles.  

8.4 The six principles are:

i Effective Decision Making

ii Clear Objectives

iii Risk and Liabilities

iv Performance Assessment

v Responsible Ownership

Page 42



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 11 of 22 

vi Transparency and Reporting

8.5 Appendix 4 contains this statement of compliance.

Page 43



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 12 of 22 

Appendix 1

Investment responsibilities of the Pension Fund Committee 

1. To approve, monitor compliance with, and review the content of the Statement of Investment 
Principles.

2. To consider the implications of the triennial valuation report of the Fund’s Actuary.

3. To decide on the allocation of assets.

4. To approve the appointment and dismissal of Managers, Custodians and Advisors.

5. To assess the performance of each Investment Manager against the targets set. 

6. To monitor the performance of the Fund as a whole and compliance with the terms of this 
Statement.

7. To set and review the investment parameters within which the Investment Managers may operate.

Page 44



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 13 of 22 

Appendix 2

Strategic Asset Allocation

Asset Class Manager
Original 

Benchmark
%

Strategic 
Benchmark

%

Permitted 
Range

/
Tolerance

%

UK Equity UBS 1 14.0% 12.6%

Baillie Gifford 7.0% 6.4%

Total 21.0 % 19.0% 16% - 22%

Global Equity UBS 14.0% 9.9%

Baillie Gifford 21.0% 21.7%

Morgan Stanley 14.0% 14.4%

Total 49.0% 46.0% 58% - 72%%

Bonds

Govt. Fixed Interests Bonds UBS 2 7.5 % 7.5% 3% - 12%

Corporate Fixed Interest 
Bonds UBS 2 7.5 % 7.5% 3% - 12%

Total 15.0 % 15% 13% - 17%

Alternatives 3

Multi-Asset Alternatives Fund LGT 10.0 % 15%

Property UBS 5.0 % 5%

Total 15.0% 20% 15% - 25%

Cash 0% 0%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

Note:

1 This is a passive investment mandate which requires the FTSE All Share index to be tracked.

2 At present the Committee have used the permitted ranges to reduce the Govt. Fixed Interests 
Bonds weighting to close to the bottom of the range. 

3 Alternative assets such as commodities, hedge funds, infrastructure, emerging market debt, private 
equity, high yield debt and convertible bonds.

Page 45



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 14 of 22 

Appendix 3

Investment Management Arrangements

Asset Class Manager
Performance 

Objective  
(all net of fees)

Benchmark Indices 
Used

UK Equity UBS Benchmark Return +0.0% FTSE 
All-Share Index

Baillie Gifford Benchmark Return +1.0%
FTSE 

All-Share Index

Global Equity UBS Benchmark Return +2.0%

FTSE 
All World 

Developed World 
Index

Baillie Gifford Benchmark Return +2.5% MSCI AC World 
Index

Morgan Stanley Benchmark Return Not Defined MSCI World Net 
Index

Bonds

Govt. Fixed 
Interests Bonds UBS * Benchmark Return +0.6%

FTSE Actuaries 
Government 

Securities Index

Corporate Fixed 
Interest Bonds UBS * Benchmark Return +1.6% iBoxx Sterling 

Non-Gilts Index

Multi-Asset 
Alternatives Fund LGT Benchmark Return +4.0% LIBOR

Property UBS Benchmark Return +0.75%
IPD UK PPFI All 
Balanced Funds 

Index

Page 46



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 15 of 22 

Appendix 4

Statement of Compliance with Myners Principles
This table summarises the principles, best practice guidance as provided by CIPFA and the Fund’s current status in relation to compliance .

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

1. Effective Decision-Making
Administering authorities should 
ensure that:

 decisions are taken by 
persons or organisations 
with the skills, knowledge, 
advice and resources 
necessary to make them 
effectively and monitor their 
implementation; and

 those persons or 
organisations have sufficient 
expertise to be able to 
evaluate and challenge the 
advice they receive, and 
manage conflicts of interest.

 The administering authority should have a 
designated committee of members responsible for 
the management of the pension fund and 
wherever possible appointments to the committee 
should take account of relevant skills, experience 
and continuity.

 The committee should have terms of reference, 
and where investment decisions are delegated 
the process should be recorded, with the roles of 
members, officers, advisers and managers 
specified. 

 The committee should have appropriate skills for, 
and is run in a way that facilitates, effective 
decision-making.

 There are sufficient internal resources and access 
to external resources for the administering 
authorities and Members to make effective 
decisions.

 It is good practice to have an investment sub-
committee, to provide the appropriate focus and 
skills on investment decision-making.

Full Compliance

 The Fund has a designated committee – the 
Committee - with the experience and skills to take 
decisions.

 The Committee’s terms of reference is contained 
within the Scheme of Administration for the 
Council.

 The Committee receives training either during 
meetings or at specific training sessions, including 
on investment issues.  

 Induction training is provided for new Members 
and Officers.

 The Committee has an appointed investment 
consultant to provide specific investment advice. 

 The Chief Financial Officer and other senior 
officers provide advice and support to the Sub-
Committee 

 The Committee does not have an investment sub 
committee and has decided that decisions should 
be made by all the Members to ensure continuity 
of knowledge and good levels of understanding by 
all Members.

 The Committee carry out regular reviews of the 
Fund and compliance with regulations.

P
age 47



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 16 of 22 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

1. Effective Decision-Making 
(contd.)

 The committee should obtain proper advice at 
reasonable intervals from suitably qualified 
persons.

 The Chief Financial Officer should be given 
responsibility for developing a training plan for 
committee members.

 A business plan should be in place which should 
include milestones and should review level of 
resources needed. 

 Members allowances should be published and 
reviewed regularly. 

 Meeting papers should be clear and circulated 
sufficiently in advance of the meetings.

 The Committee’s Members are reimbursed for all 
reasonable expenses incurred through their duties 
as Sub-Committee Members but the issue of 
payment is not relevant to a local government 
fund. 

 The Committee’s legal advisers and any other 
relevant parties review any new investment 
contracts put in place. 

 Meeting papers are circulated 7 days in advance 
of meeting. 

 Members’ training is the responsibility of the Clerk 
to the Council with input from the Chief Financial 
Officer

 Members’ Allowances are regularly published as 
required by the Local Government (Allowances 
and Expenses) (Scotland) Regulations 2007.

P
age 48



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 17 of 22 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status 

2. Clear Objectives

 An overall investment 
objective(s) should be set out 
for the fund that takes account 
of the scheme’s liabilities, the 
potential impact on local tax 
payers, the strength of the 
covenant for non local authority 
employers, and the attitude to 
risk of both the administering 
authority and scheme 
employers, and these should be 
clearly communicated to 
advisers and investment 
managers.

 The committee should set an overall investment 
objective considering the fund’s liabilities in the 
context of net cashflow, the funding position and 
maturity of liabilities.

 Specialist advice should be sought as to how the 
objective might be expressed as an expected, or 
required, rate of return.

 Appetite for risk should be considered. Asset 
allocation decisions should consider all asset 
classes currently available. 

 Peer group benchmarks should be avoided.

 The general and strategic impact of funding levels 
on tax should be considered and whether sub-
funds should be established.

 The desirability of asset liability modelling should 
be considered.

 Strategic asset allocation decisions, in particular 
the equity: bond split, diversification of the assets 
and why some asset classes may be excluded 
should be given most attention.

 Proper advice should be taken where appropriate.

 Transaction and transition costs should be fully 
understood.

Full compliance

 The Committee makes decisions on the strategy, 
structure and managers following advice from their 
investment consultant, and in doing so periodically 
considers the results of asset liability modelling and 
appetite for risk of the administering authority and 
scheme employers.  

 The Fund has a scheme specific benchmark.  
Investment objectives are stated in the Statement of 
Investment Principles (SIP).  The assets are 
generally managed in segregated accounts where 
the Sub-Committee set the investment managers 
individual mandate objectives and risk parameters.

 An explicit mandate is in place with the fund 
managers which include clear time horizons for 
performance measurement and evaluation.

 Both short and long-term performance is measured 
quarterly against scheme specific benchmarks and 
the fund managers are required to attend twice per 
year to discuss performance against those indices.

 The Committee regularly reviews the investment 
structure of the Fund, including different asset 
classes, styles of management and follows the 
appropriate procurement regulations for the 
appointment of managers which includes a review 
of cost, objectives and mandates (including risk).  

 The Fund considers the full range of asset classes 
and has decided to add investments in alternative 
assets such as private equity, infrastructure, 
commodities and currencies to its portfolio.

P
age 49



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 18 of 22 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

3. Risk and Liabilities

 In setting and reviewing their 
investment strategy, 
administering authorities 
should take account of the 
form and structure of 
liabilities.

 These include the 
implications for local tax 
payers, the strength of the 
covenant for participating 
employers, the risk of their 
default and longevity risk.

 The committee should have a clear policy on 
willingness to accept underperformance due to 
market conditions.

 Acceptable tolerances from market index 
benchmarks returns should be stated.

 Benchmarks which are absolute in nature or 
relative to cash returns or RPI might result in 
underperformance relative to market indices.  

 Overall fund objectives should be expressed in 
terms which relate to the liabilities. 

 The committee must receive an assessment of 
the risks associated with their liabilities, valuation 
and management.

 The annual report should include an overall risk 
assessment. 

 The committee should satisfy itself on levels of 
internal controls. Effective internal controls are a 
responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer. 

 The committee should ensure the investment 
strategy is consistent with the scheme employers 
ability to pay.

Full compliance

 The Committee periodically reviews the 
appropriateness of the investment strategy to 
achieve the required objectives, taking account of 
employers ability to pay. 

 The Committee carried out an investment strategy 
review using asset liability modelling in 2008.  
This involved taking account of the form and 
structure of the liabilities and aiming to reduce risk 
where appropriate through increased 
diversification in the strategies or managing 
specific risks such as currency risk.

 The overall Fund investment objective is 
expressed in terms which relate to the liabilities.

 The Committee does not necessarily make 
changes to the Fund’s asset allocation or 
investment managers due to underperformance, 
as long as the reasons for this are explained and 
justified.  Advice is taken from the investment 
consultant regarding any changes to investment 
policy.

 Factors affecting long-term performance and 
advice on how these impact on the Fund are 
considered as part of the triennial valuation 
process and when making changes to investment 
strategy.  Advice is received from the Fund’s 
advisors.

 The Committee regularly review and develop 
where necessary their internal controls. 

P
age 50



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 19 of 22 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

4. Performance Assessment

 Arrangements should be in 
place for the formal 
measurement of 
performance of the 
investments, investment 
managers and advisers.

 Administering authorities 
should also periodically 
make a formal assessment 
of their own effectiveness as 
a decision making body and 
report on this to scheme 
members.

Investments

 The committee should consider the 
appropriateness of index benchmarks and 
whether active or passive management is more 
appropriate, and where active management is felt 
more appropriate set targets and risk controls.

 The mandate provided to each investment 
manager should cover the investment objective, 
risk parameters, performance targets and 
measurement timescales. 

 Constraints on active managers should not be 
overly narrow or overly wide.

 Investment activity should be monitored and 
returns measured quarterly in line with 
regulations, but also over longer time periods. 

 Variations in returns from the benchmark should 
be attributed to asset allocation, stock selection, 
sector selection and currency.

Advisers

 Assessment should take account of the extent of 
decisions delegated.

 A framework should be established for assessing 
actuaries and consultants who should be 
assessed on a number of factors. 

Decision making bodies

  The committee’s self assessment against 
expectations should cover manager selection, 
asset allocation, consultant employment and set 
out in annual report. 

Full compliance 

 The performance of the investment managers is 
measured quarterly by an independent 
performance monitoring company and reviewed 
quarterly by the Committee.

 Variations in returns from the benchmark are 
attributed to asset allocation, stock selection, 
sector selection and currency.

 Investment management agreements with each 
investment manager cover the investment 
objective, risk parameters, and performance 
target.

 The Committee consider, with input from the 
investment consultant, the suitability of active or 
passive management for each mandate.

 Members all participate in meetings, giving 
opinions and views where relevant.  Each persons 
view is heard and asked for.

 Annual self assessment of the committee’s 
performance is carried out. 

 Periodic assessment of the investment adviser’s 
performance is carried out.

 Factors such as past performance and price are 
taken into account when re-tendering for external 
advisers.

P
age 51



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 20 of 22 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

5. Responsible Ownership
Administering authorities 
should:

 adopt, or ensure their 
investment managers adopt, 
the Institutional 
Shareholders’ Committee 
Statement of Principles on 
the responsibilities of 
shareholders and agents,

 includes a statement of their 
policy on responsible 
ownership in the Statement 
of Investment Principles; and

 report periodically to scheme 
members on the discharge 
of such responsibilities.

 Policies regarding responsible ownership should be 
disclosed in Statement of Investment Principles 
contained in the annual report. 

 The administering authority should consider its 
approach to environmental, social and governance 
issues and the potential for engagement in 
environmental, social and governance issues to add 
value when formulating investment strategy and 
selecting investment managers.

 The committee should ensure that investment 
managers have an explicit strategy, setting out the 
circumstances in which they will intervene in a 
company.

 The committee should ensure its policies are not 
overridden by an investment manager’s general 
policies.

 The committee should ensure that investment 
consultants adopt the Institutional Share-holder 
Committee’s (ISC) Statement of Practice relating to 
consultants.

 The ISC’s Statement of Principles on the 
responsibilities of Institutional shareholders should 
be noted.

Full compliance

 The Committee are aware of the Institutional 
Shareholders’ Committee Statement of 
Principles on the responsibilities of Institutional 
shareholders and have confirmed that their 
investment managers adopt the Statement of 
Principles on the responsibilities of shareholders 
and agents.

 The Committee consider environmental, social 
and governance issues when formulating 
investment strategy and selecting investment 
managers but do not give precedent to this 
factor over other factors which have greater 
financial implications for the Fund.

 The Statement of Investment Principles includes 
a statement of the Committee’s policy on 
responsible ownership.

 Voting on underlying shareholdings is delegated 
to the fund manager.

 Details of the investment manager’s house 
strategy are requested from the manager. 

 Feedback on interventions to be provided during 
meeting with manager (minimum of once per 
annum).

 The investment consultant has confirmed that it 
does adopt the ISC Statement of Practice 
relating to consultants.

P
age 52



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 21 of 22 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

6. Transparency and 
Reporting
Administering authorities 
should:

 act in a transparent manner, 
communicating with 
stakeholders on issues 
relating to their management 
of investment, its 
governance and risks, 
including performance 
against stated objectives; 
and

 provide regular 
communication to scheme 
members in the form they 
consider most appropriate.

Reporting ensures that:

 An integrated approach to governance should be 
built and governance compliance statements 
should be maintained regularly.

 The Fund’s communication statement must set 
out the policy on the provision of information, the 
format and the promotion of the scheme. 

 Examples of good communication from other 
funds should be sought.

 Annual report content should be compared to the 
regulations.

 Funding strategy statement, statement of 
investment principles and governance 
compliance statement should be noted as core 
sources of information.

 The governance compliance statement should 
include information on the extent the 
administering authority has delegated functions 
to a committee, and to the extent this complies 
with CLG guidance.

 The committee should know its stakeholders and 
the interests they have.

Full compliance

 The Annual Report including the Funding 
Strategy Statement, Statement of Investment 
Principles and Governance Statement are 
published each year. 

 Examples of good communication from other 
funds are sought.

 Communications are sent to members whenever 
important changes to the Fund take place, or to 
provide updates.

 The Fund operates transparently and enhances 
accountability to scheme members.

 The Fund’s Governance Statement includes 
information on the extent the administering 
authority has delegated functions to a 
committee, and to the extent this complies with 
Scottish Ministers guidance.

P
age 53



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 22 of 22 

VERSION CONTROL TABLE
Version Nature of Amendment Date of Change Author
2000 1.0 SIP – created March 2000 A Bowman

2006 1.0 SIP – update March 2006 A Bowman

2010 1.0 Draft SIP – updated to reflect updated FSS and new Myners Principles March 2010 L Mirley
in collaboration with 
Aon Consulting

2010 2.0 Final Draft of SIP to present to Pension Fund Sub-Committee June 2010 L Mirley

2013 1.0 Final Draft of SIP to present to Pension Fund Committee Dec 2013 Kirsty Robb

You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various computer formats by contacting the address below.  Kirsty Robb can also give 

information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Kirsty Robb, Treasury & Capital Manager, Council HQ, Newtown St Boswells

01835 825016, krobb@scotborders.gov.uk

P
age 54



APPENDIX A

SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL 
PENSION FUND
STATEMENT OF 

INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES
2015

Finance
Chief Executive 

Version: 2015 2.0 DRAFT
Approved: Pension Fund Committee [DATE]

Page 55



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 2 of 26 

Introduction
This is the Statement of Investment Principles (the SIP) adopted by the Scottish Borders Council to 
govern the investment operations of its Pension Fund.  It covers the matters required by regulations 
together with certain other aspects of investment management, which it is felt should be included for 
the sake of completeness.  

This version of the SIP was agreed by the Pension Fund Committee (the Committee) on [18 June 
2015].

1. The statutory requirements concerning the SIP
1.1 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds)(Scotland) 

Regulations 1998 as amended require administering authorities to prepare, maintain and 
publish a Statement of Investment Principles (SIP) that includes the policy on:

 The types of investment to be held
 The balance between different types of investment
 The risk considerations, including the ways in which risks are to 

be measured and managed1

 The expected return on investments
 Realising of investments
 Taking account of social, environmental or ethical considerations 

in investments
 Exercising the rights (including voting rights) attaching to 

investments 
 Stock Lending1

1.2 The Statement must also state the extent of compliance with guidance given by the Scottish 
Ministers. This guidance requires reference to the 6 principles of investment practice 
published by CIPFA in December 2009.1 

1 “Investment Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local Government Pension Scheme: A Guide to the Application of the 
Myners Principles (2009)”

Page 56



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 3 of 26 

2. Governance
2.1 Scottish Borders Council (the Council) is the Administering Authority for the Local 

Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) set up for the Scottish Borders geographic area, the 
Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund (the Fund).

2.2 The Council has delegated its pension’s functions to the Pension Fund Committee (the 
Committee) which has ultimate responsibility for making decisions in relation to the 
maintenance and revision of the SIP, and approving decisions in relation to changes in fund 
manager, investment adviser or custodian.

2.3 The Pension Fund Investment and Performance Sub-Committee (the Investment Sub-
Committee) is a sub-committee established to undertake specific investment monitoring 
responsibilities as set out in Appendix 1.

2.4 The Pension Board (the Board) is established under the provisions of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Governance) (Scotland) Regulations 2015 with the remit to 
securing the Fund’s compliance with the Regulatory Framework.  A constitution has been 
agreed for the Board with the responsibilities set out in Appendix 2.

2.5 The SIP sets out the principles governing decisions about the investments of the Fund.  The 
Fund recognises the importance of corporate governance and responsibility in ensuring the 
long term financial performance of the organisations in which they invest.

2.6 The SIP forms part of a governance framework that includes:

 The Statutory Regulations
 The Pension Fund Committee
 The Pension Fund Investment & Performance Sub-Committee
 The Pension Board
 The Fund’s Advisers
 The Funding Strategy Statement22

and 
 The Governance Policy and Compliance Statement2.

2.7 Underlying the SIP and the Council’s related decision making processes is the requirement 
that the Council must obtain and consider “proper advice” and this is provided by Council 
Officers and expert, professional advisers under contract to the Council.

2 Funding Strategy Statement and Governance Policy and Compliance Statement can be found at 
www.scotborders.gov.uk/pensions

Page 57

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/pensions


Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 4 of 26 

3. The Fund’s Objectives
Primary Aim

3.1 The primary aim of the Fund is:

“To provide for members’ pension and lump sum benefits on their retirement or for their 
dependants’ benefits on death before or after retirement, on a defined benefits basis.”

In order that this primary objective can be achieved, the following funding and investment 
objectives have been agreed.

Funding Objectives

3.2 The funding objectives are set out in the Funding Strategy Statement (the FSS) and are as 
follows:

i To set levels of employer contribution that will build up a Fund of assets that will be 
sufficient to meet all future benefit payments from the Fund.

ii To build up the required assets in a way that produces employer contributions, which are 
as stable as possible.

3.3 The funding objectives must complement the Fund’s investment strategy so that the 
appropriate amount of risk is adopted in the pursuit of investment returns.

Page 58



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 5 of 26 

4. Investment Policy 
Investment Strategy

4.1 The Committee sets an Investment Strategy for the Fund, taking into account the funding 
status and liabilities.  The strategy is subject to regular review and, as appropriate, asset 
liability modelling techniques are used to assist in these reviews. 

4.2 The Investment Strategy’s primary aim is to deliver the funding objective in Section 3.2 ii) 
above which is to build up the required assets in a way that produces stable employer 
contributions to the Fund.  

4.3 The Committee in pursuing this primary aim will, as far as is practicable and as an aid to 
long-term stability, seek to maintain a positive ratio of assets to liabilities at each actuarial 
valuation.

4.4 The Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) states that the discount rate that is adopted in the 
actuarial valuation of the Fund’s liabilities is derived by considering the expected return from 
the underlying investment strategy but makes no allowance for additional returns from active 
management.  The strategic benchmark that is established for the Fund’s investment 
strategy is therefore expected to produce a return over the long term in excess of the 
investment return assumed in the triennial Actuarial Valuations.

4.5 The Fund currently has more actively contributing members compared to members receiving 
pensions.  It however also has 2,381 deferred members which are currently neither 
contributing nor receiving – as a result it is not mature and therefore need not, at present, 
provide a high level of annual income to meet the cost of benefits.  It will therefore continue 
to seek capital growth to meet future liabilities.

4.6 The Investment Strategy for the Fund has been developed with the support of external 
investment consultants who have supported the Committee in their decision making process.  
The approved investment strategy is presented as a strategic asset allocation which sets 
benchmark percentage allocations across the various asset classes.

4.7 In establishing strategic asset allocations the Committee recognises that it is not possible at 
reasonable cost to consistently hold investments of a type that maintains an exact match 
with the Fund’s liabilities to pensioners and other members.

4.8 The Committee undertook a full review exercise in 2009, taking into account the funding 
status and liabilities and using asset liability modelling.  A further review was again 
undertaken in March 2013 resulting in the revised strategy contained in this SIP.  The 
Committee will review the strategy, if appropriate, at least once per three year period.  

4.9 Appendix 3 contains a summary of the strategic asset allocation benchmark for the Fund.

Investment Management Arrangements

4.10 The Investment Strategy is implemented by employing external investment managers 
currently UBS Global Asset Management (UBS), LGT Partners (LGT), Morgan Stanley 
Investment Management (Morgan Stanley), M&G Investments (M&G), Harris Associates 
(Harris) and Baillie Gifford, as appropriate.

4.11 The objective is to employ a combination of managers and investment mandates that will 
deliver, in aggregate, the target performance for the Fund.

Page 59



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 6 of 26 

4.12 The Committee sets the target for the Fund and this overall target is expressed as an out 
performance against the Fund’s strategic benchmark which is a composite of the various 
benchmarks for the different managers and asset allocations.

4.13 The pursuit of a target implies active management of a substantial part of the Fund and the 
acceptance of a degree of risk in managing investments. 

4.14 The Fund’s current total target is to generate a return of at least 2.7% above CPI 
inflation assumed as the real discount rate at the actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2014.

4.15 The investment managers are responsible for the selection of individual holdings within each 
type of investment category within the parameters set out in their agreement which includes 
the need to achieve targets which are measured.

4.16 The Fund holds some temporary cash on short term deposit or in money market funds, 
which are managed by Finance staff.

4.17 The Committee determines the distribution of the Fund for investment purposes from time to 
time.

4.18 Appendix 4 contains details of the investment arrangements that are in place at the 31 

March 2015. 

Risk Measurement and Management

4.19 Asset Allocation

i The key investment risks are recognised as arising from asset allocation.  The 
investment strategy of lowest funding risk would be 100% investment in duration, 
matched index-linked government bonds, i.e. the most natural “matching” asset for 
pensions liabilities.  However, this is not necessarily the most cost-effective approach.  

ii In the long-term, investment in assets of calculated risk is likely to produce higher returns 
and therefore reduce the overall cost of funding the pension liabilities.  Following this 
rationale, the Fund deliberately runs an unmatched strategy which is heavily biased 
towards “growth” assets such as equities, property and other alternative assets. 

iii The asset allocation risks are assessed triennially, typically using asset liability modelling 
techniques following the actuarial valuation of the Fund, after which the Committee take 
advice on the continued appropriateness of the existing investment strategy.  

iv As these risks were assessed as part of the asset and liability modelling exercise 
undertaken in 2009 by the Fund’s investment consultant, it is envisaged that this will next 
be done during 2015/16 following the actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2014. 

v The retrospective impact of investment risk on the Fund’s funding position is monitored 
on a quarterly basis via investment reports prepared by the Fund’s investment 
managers, the Fund’s performance monitoring company and the investment consultants. 

4.20 Investment Managers

i To reduce the risk that the Fund significantly underperforms, performance and risk 
targets and controls are set for each manager relative to their benchmark.  These are set 
out in formal Investment Management Agreements or Subscription Agreements with 
each of the appointed managers.

Page 60



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 7 of 26 

ii The managers are required to provide data monthly and report quarterly on portfolio 
management issues.  This information is reported to the Committee on a quarterly basis.  
The monitoring includes assessing their achievement of performance that meets or out 
performs their individual targets. 

iii The managers must also provide data to WM Performance Services, the company 
chosen by the Committee to provide it with independent performance comparisons.

iv The managers are also required to attend at the Pension Fund Investment and 
Performance Sub-Committee at least once a year to give an account of their activities 
and performance.

v The managers must comply with all lawful instructions given to them by the Committee 
(in accordance with the mandates agreed) and their contracts can be terminated at no 
more than one month’s notice.

vi All manager mandates will always impose the investment restrictions contained in the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations.

4.21 Proper Advice

i The Committee is required to secure proper advice to ensure that their decision making 
processes are appropriately informed.  The current advisers to the Fund are:

Investment Consultant Aon Hewitt Limited

Actuaries Barnett Waddingham

4.22 Concentration Risk and Diversification

i Concentration risk arises from the failure of any investments which constituted a 
significant proportion of the Fund’s assets.  In order to reduce this risk a spread of assets 
is held.  The diversification is both within, and across, the major asset classes and will be 
enhanced through investment in alternative asset classes.

ii Diversification is used to manage the risk involved in pursuing an active management 
approach to a substantial part of the fund.  

iii This is achieved through diversification of investment over various types of asset, by the 
use of at least two managers with different styles or specialism, and by requiring a wide 
range of individual stocks and shares to be held.

4.23 Transition Management Arrangements

i A specialist transition manager, currently State Street Global Markets (State Street), is 
employed to manage complex changes in investment strategy and/or manager(s). 

ii The use of these specialist services is intended to reduce the cost of transition to the 
Fund and minimise the overall impact on the Fund value at the point of transition.

4.24 Currency Risk

i During 2009 the Committee approved the commencement of a Passive Currency 
Hedging mandate to hedge 50% of the currency exposure within the overseas equity 
portfolios.

Page 61



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 8 of 26 

ii The mandate is operated by State Street Global Advisors within a 5% tolerance which is 
monitored monthly and generates a realised gain or loss quarterly.

iii The key purpose of the passive hedging is to reduce the short term volatility in the 
Fund’s asset valuations which results from currency movements.

4.25 Safe Keeping of Assets

i The services of a global custodian, currently J.P. Morgan, are employed to ensure the 
safeguarding of the Fund’s assets and ensure that all associated income is collected.

ii The Fund is provided with statements of assets, cashflow and transactions, which 
Finance staff reconcile to data reported by the managers.

iii The custodian also has a responsibility for keeping the Council informed of any concerns 
arising in its dealings with the investment managers.

iv Investment in pooled funds managed by UBS, Morgan Stanley and LGT gives the Fund 
a right to the cash value of the units rather than to the underlying assets.  The managers 
of the pooled funds, are responsible for the appointment and monitoring of the custodian 
of the pooled funds’ assets.  

4.26 Cashflow Risk and Realisation of Investments/Liquidity

i The overall liquidity of the Fund is considered in the light of potential demands for cash.  
The Fund will hold sufficient cash to meet the likely benefit payments.  Additionally, the 
Fund will hold sufficient assets in liquid or readily realisable form to meet any unexpected 
cashflow requirements so that the realisation of assets will not disrupt the Fund’s overall 
policy.

ii The majority of the Fund’s investments are quoted on major stock markets and may be 
realised relatively quickly if required.  

iii A small proportion of the Fund’s investments, in particular Property, and future 
investments in other alternative assets would take longer to be realised.  

5. Types of Investment
5.1 The Fund has approval from the Committee to use the following different types of investment 

and income generating mechanisms to achieve the overall investment objectives:

 Equities (UK, Overseas and Global mandates including direct holdings, Managed Funds, 
Unit trusts, Investment Trusts, Open Ended Investment Companies)

 Bonds
 UK Property
 Currency
 Alternative assets such as commodities, hedge funds, infrastructure, emerging market 

debt, private equity, high yield debt and convertible bonds.
 Cash (including Treasury Bills and Money Market Funds)
 Derivatives  and other Managed transactions

5.2 Stock Lending is not currently authorised by the Committee for the directly held investments 
under the custody of its custodian.  Where  Fund managers  invests in pooled funds that 

Page 62



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 9 of 26 

participate in stock lending programme the committee expect that a third party for example a 
a parent company will act as the principal counterparty so that irrespective of the end 
borrower,  counterparty risk sits with the Parent Company and not with the Pension Fund .  
Security is therefore provided for the stock loaned by the borrower transferring ownership of 
other collateral assets to the lender for the period of the loan.

6. Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Issues
6.1 The Committee has an overriding fiduciary duty to maximise investment returns for the 

benefit of the Fund members.  It is aware that in doing so the financial contributions required 
of Fund employers will be minimised.

6.2 The Committee believes that environmental, social and governance issues can affect the 
financial performance of companies and that it has a responsibility to take these issues 
seriously and where appropriate, to act upon them.

6.3 The Committee considers engagement with companies in which the Fund invests to be the 
most effective means of understanding and influencing the social, environmental and 
business policies of those companies.  The investment managers for the Fund are therefore 
encouraged to constructively engage with companies on issues which are consistent with the 
Fund’s fiduciary responsibilities.

6.4 The Committee recognises its responsibility to exercise voting rights to ensure transparency 
and accountability in corporate governance.

6.5 The Fund’s investment managers maintain close contact with the management of companies 
in which investments are held or contemplated and subject their affairs to considerable 
analysis and skilled scrutiny.  In recognition of this activity, the Sub-Committee delegates to 
its managers all voting and other rights attaching to Fund investments.  

6.6 The investment managers have delegated powers to exercise such rights in the best 
financial interests of the Fund and would in particular expect them to vote appropriately at 
company Annual General Meetings (AGMs) and Extraordinary General Meetings (EGMs).

6.7 The Committee has, however, drawn the attention of managers to its general concern that 
the remuneration practices of companies should be patently fair and reasonable.  It has 
asked that managers reflect such concern when voting shares in companies in which the 
Fund is directly invested. The Committee is content to allow its managers discretion on the 
voting of in-house pooled fund shares subject to referring any matters relating to the 
remuneration of Fund managers to it for direction

6.8 The key highlights in terms of voting actions taken by investment managers is included as 
part of the quarterly investment manager report to the Committee its investment consultant.

7. Audit responsibilities

7.1 The Pension Fund is subject to review by both the Council’s external auditors and the 
Internal Audit team, and comes within the remit of the Council’s Audit and Risk Committee.

7.2 The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council’s Pension Fund, 
for the year then ended.  Their audit report is formally presented to the Council each year.  A 
detailed Annual Report of the Pension Fund is produced in addition and circulated to 

Page 63



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 10 of 26 

employers and other interested parties.  This derives information from both audited accounts 
and unaudited sources of background information.

7.3 The Internal Audit team carries out a programme of work designed to re-assure the Chief 
Executive and Chief Financial Officer that Pension Fund investment systems and records 
are properly controlled and that Pension Fund assets are safeguarded.

8. Compliance with the Myners principles
8.1 In October 2008 the Treasury report Updating the Myners Principles: A Response to 

Consultation (October 2008) created the requirement for Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) administering authorities to prepare, publish and maintain statements of 
compliance against a set of six principles for pension fund investment, scheme governance, 
disclosure and consultation.  

8.2 In December 2009, CIPFA issued Investment Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local 
Government Pension Scheme: A Guide to the Application of the Myners Principles. 

8.3 The LGPS regulations require the SIP to contain a statement of compliance with the six 
principles.  

8.4 The six principles are:

i Effective Decision Making

ii Clear Objectives

iii Risk and Liabilities

iv Performance Assessment

v Responsible Ownership

vi Transparency and Reporting

8.5 Appendix 5 contains this statement of compliance.

Page 64



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 11 of 26 

Appendix 1

Pension Fund Investment and Performance Sub-Committee 

The Scheme of Administration for the Council specifies that the following functions shall be referred to 
the Investment and Performance Sub-Committee:

1. Reviewing the Pension Fund’s Statement of Investment Principles.

2. Where appropriate, recommending changes to the Pension Fund Committee in relation to the 
Statement of Investment Principles.

3. Ensuring appropriate investment management arrangements are in place for monies of the 
Pension Fund and to review investment manager performance.

4. Overseeing the contractual review of the fund managers and investment adviser(s) and custodian.

5. Where appropriate, making recommendations to the Pension Fund Committee in relation to the 
appointment or removal of a fund manager, investment adviser or custodian.

6. Overseeing the overall approach to investment risk management and where appropriate 
recommending changes to the Pension Fund’s Risk Register.

Page 65



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 12 of 26 

Appendix 2

Pension Board

The Council approved the Constitution for the Pension Board (the Board) on 2 April 2015.

1. The Objectives of the Board are as follows:

The Board is the body responsible for assisting the Scheme Manager in relation to:

i Securing compliance with the regulations and other legislation relating to the governance 
and administration of the Scheme and any statutory pension scheme that is connected 
with it; 

ii securing compliance with requirements imposed in relation to the Scheme and any 
connected scheme by the Pensions Regulator; and

iii such other matters as the regulations may specify .

2. The Board also has the remit to determine the areas they wish to consider including, amongst 
others:

a) Reports produced for the Pension Fund Committee;
b) Seek reports from the Scheme Manager on any aspect of the Fund;
c) Monitor investments and the investment principles/strategy/guidance;
d) The Annual Report and Accounts for the Fund;
e) External voting and engagement provisions in relation to investments;
f) Pension Fund Administrative Strategy and associated performance;
g) Actuarial reports and valuations; 
h) Funding Strategy Statement and associated policy; and
i) Any other matters that the Board deems appropriate within the responsibilities set 

out in 4.2 above. 

Page 66



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 13 of 26 

Appendix 3

Strategic Asset Allocation

Asset Class Manager
Strategic 

Benchmark
%

Permitted 
Range

/
Tolerance

%
UK Equity UBS 1 12.6%

Baillie Gifford 6.4%

Sub Total 19.0% 16% - 22%

Global Equity Harries Associates 9.9%

Baillie Gifford 21.7%

Morgan Stanley 14.4%

Sub Total 46.0% 40% - 52%

Total Equity 65.0% 56% - 74%

Bonds

Alpha Opportunities M&G 10.5%

Govt. Fixed Interests Bonds M&G 2.25%

Corporate Fixed Interest Bonds M&G 2.25%

Total 15.0% 13% - 20%

Alternatives 2

Multi-Asset Alternatives Fund LGT Partners 15.0%

Property UBS 5.0%

Total 20.0% 15% - 25%

Cash 0.0%

Total 100.0%

Note:

1 This is a passive investment mandate which requires the FTSE All Share index to be tracked.

2 Alternative assets such as commodities, hedge funds, infrastructure, emerging market debt, private 
equity, high yield debt and convertible bonds.

Page 67



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2015 Page 14 of 26 

Appendix 4

Investment Management Arrangements

Asset Class Manager
Performance 

Objective  
(all net of fees)

Benchmark Indices 
Used

UK Equity UBS Benchmark Return +0.0% FTSE 
All-Share Index

Baillie Gifford Benchmark Return +1.0%
FTSE 

All-Share Index

Global Equity Harries 
Associates Benchmark Return +2.5%

MSCI 
All Country World  

Index

Baillie Gifford Benchmark Return +2.5% MSCI AC World 
Index

Morgan Stanley Benchmark Return Not Defined MSCI World Net 
Index

Bonds
Alpha 

Opportunties M&G * Benchmark Return +3.5% - 
5%% 1 Month LIBOR

Govt Fixed Interest 
Bonds M&G Benchmark Return +0.75%

FTSE Actuaries 
UK Conventional 

Gilts All Stock 
Index

Corporate Fixed 
Interest Bonds M&G * Benchmark Return +0.8% iBoxx Sterling 

Non-Gilts Index

Multi-Asset 
Alternatives Fund LGT Partners Benchmark Return +4.0% LIBOR

Property UBS Benchmark Return +0.75%
IPD UK PPFI All 
Balanced Funds 

Index

Page 68



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 15 of 26 

Appendix 5

Statement of Compliance with Myners Principles
This table summarises the principles, best practice guidance as provided by CIPFA and the Fund’s current status in relation to compliance .

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

1. Effective Decision-Making
Administering authorities should 
ensure that:

 decisions are taken by 
persons or organisations 
with the skills, knowledge, 
advice and resources 
necessary to make them 
effectively and monitor their 
implementation; and

 those persons or 
organisations have sufficient 
expertise to be able to 
evaluate and challenge the 
advice they receive, and 
manage conflicts of interest.

 The administering authority should have a 
designated committee of members responsible for 
the management of the pension fund and 
wherever possible appointments to the committee 
should take account of relevant skills, experience 
and continuity.

 The committee should have terms of reference, 
and where investment decisions are delegated 
the process should be recorded, with the roles of 
members, officers, advisers and managers 
specified. 

 The committee should have appropriate skills for, 
and is run in a way that facilitates, effective 
decision-making.

 There are sufficient internal resources and access 
to external resources for the administering 
authorities and Members to make effective 
decisions.

Full Compliance

 The Fund has a designated committee – the 
Committee - with the experience and skills to take 
decisions.

 The Committee’s terms of reference is contained 
within the Scheme of Administration for the 
Council.

 The Committee receives training either during 
meetings or at specific training sessions, including 
on investment issues.  

 Induction training is provided for new Members 
and Officers.

 The Committee has an appointed investment 
consultant to provide specific investment advice. 

 The Chief Financial Officer and other senior 
officers provide advice and support to the Sub-
Committee 

P
age 69



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 16 of 26 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

1. Effective Decision-Making 
(contd.)

 It is good practice to have an investment sub-
committee, to provide the appropriate focus and 
skills on investment decision-making.

 The committee should obtain proper advice at 
reasonable intervals from suitably qualified 
persons.

 The Chief Financial Officer should be given 
responsibility for developing a training plan for 
committee members.

 A business plan should be in place which should 
include milestones and should review level of 
resources needed. 

 Members allowances should be published and 
reviewed regularly. 

 Meeting papers should be clear and circulated 
sufficiently in advance of the meetings.

 The Investment and Performance Sub-Committee 
with terms of reference contained within the 
Scheme of Administration for the Council to 
enhance the focus on performance monitoring and 
investment decision making.

 The Committee carry out regular reviews of the 
Fund and compliance with regulations.

 The Investment Consultant, Custodian, Actuary, 
Investment Managers and legal advisers all input 
into the provision of proper advice.  The 
Investment Adviser attends all meetings of the 
Committee and Sub-Committee.

 The Committee’s legal advisers and any other 
relevant parties review any new investment 
contracts put in place.

 There is an approved Training Policy for the Fund 
and an annual Training Needs Analysis 
undertaken for all Committee and Board 
members.

 Members’ training is the responsibility of the Clerk 
to the Council with input from the Chief Financial 
Officer

 A business plan was agreed by the Committee on 
[18 June 2015]

 Members’ Allowances are regularly published as 
required by the Local Government (Allowances 
and Expenses) (Scotland) Regulations 2007.

 Meeting papers are circulated 7 days in advance 
of meeting and public papers are published on the 
Council’s internet site. 

P
age 70



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 17 of 26 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

2. Clear Objectives

 An overall investment 
objective(s) should be set out 
for the fund that takes account 
of the scheme’s liabilities, the 
potential impact on local tax 
payers, the strength of the 
covenant for non local authority 
employers, and the attitude to 
risk of both the administering 
authority and scheme 
employers, and these should be 
clearly communicated to 
advisers and investment 
managers.

 The committee should set an overall investment 
objective considering the fund’s liabilities in the 
context of net cashflow, the funding position and 
maturity of liabilities.

 The desirability of asset liability modelling should 
be considered.

 Proper advice should be taken where appropriate.

 Specialist advice should be sought as to how the 
objective might be expressed as an expected, or 
required, rate of return.

 Peer group benchmarks should be avoided.

Full compliance

 The Committee makes decisions on the strategy, 
structure and managers following advice from their 
investment consultant, and in doing so periodically 
considers the results of asset liability modelling and 
appetite for risk of the administering authority and 
scheme employers to inform the Investment 
Strategy. 

 The Fund has a scheme specific benchmark.  
Investment objectives are stated in the Statement of 
Investment Principles (SIP).  The assets are 
generally managed under individual mandates 
where the Committee set the investment managers 
individual mandate objectives and risk parameters.

 An explicit mandate is in place with the fund 
managers which include clear time horizons for 
performance measurement and evaluation.

 Both short and long-term performance is measured 
quarterly against scheme specific benchmarks and 
the fund managers are required to attend twice per 
year to discuss performance against those indices.

P
age 71



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 18 of 26 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

2. Clear Objectives (contd)
 Appetite for risk should be considered. Asset 

allocation decisions should consider all asset 
classes currently available. 

 Strategic asset allocation decisions, in particular 
the equity: bond split, diversification of the assets 
and why some asset classes may be excluded 
should be given most attention.

 The general and strategic impact of funding levels 
on tax should be considered and whether sub-
funds should be established.

 Transaction and transition costs should be fully 
understood.

 The Committee regularly reviews the investment 
structure of the Fund, including different asset 
classes, styles of management and follows the 
appropriate procurement regulations for the 
appointment of managers which includes a review 
of cost, objectives and mandates (including risk).  

 The Fund considers the full range of asset classes 
and has decided to add investments in alternative 
assets such as private equity, infrastructure, 
commodities and currencies to its portfolio.

 At the time of undertaking the Triennial Actuarial 
Valuation the Committee considers the impact of 
funding levels on the contribution levels and 
therefore on the impact on local taxpayers.

 When evaluating new investment managers, the 
Total Expenses Ratio as well as fees are scored. 

 As part of any transition the costs are reported to 
Committee and compared with the target level set 
prior to transition.

P
age 72



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 19 of 26 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

3. Risk and Liabilities

 In setting and reviewing their 
investment strategy, 
administering authorities 
should take account of the 
form and structure of 
liabilities.

 These include the 
implications for local tax 
payers, the strength of the 
covenant for participating 
employers, the risk of their 
default and longevity risk.

 The committee should have a clear policy on 
willingness to accept underperformance due to 
market conditions.

 Acceptable tolerances from market index 
benchmarks returns should be stated.

 Benchmarks which are absolute in nature or 
relative to cash returns or RPI might result in 
underperformance relative to market indices.

 Overall fund objectives should be expressed in 
terms which relate to the liabilities. 

 The committee must receive an assessment of 
the risks associated with their liabilities, valuation 
and management.

 The annual report should include an overall risk 
assessment. 

Full compliance

 The Committee does not necessarily make 
changes to the Fund’s asset allocation or 
investment managers due to underperformance, 
as long as the reasons for this are explained and 
justified.  Advice is taken from the investment 
consultant regarding any changes to investment 
policy.

 Factors affecting long-term performance and 
advice on how these impact on the Fund are 
considered as part of the triennial valuation 
process and when making changes to investment 
strategy.  Advice is received from the Fund’s 
advisors.

 The overall Fund investment objective is 
expressed in terms which relate to the liabilities.

 The Committee carried out an investment strategy 
review using asset liability modelling in 2008.  
This involved taking account of the form and 
structure of the liabilities and aiming to reduce risk 
where appropriate through increased 
diversification in the strategies or managing 
specific risks such as currency risk.  It has agreed 
to undertake a similar review during 2015.

 The annual report includes a Risk Management 
Statement

P
age 73



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 20 of 26 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

3. Risk and Liabilities (contd)  The committee should satisfy itself on levels of 
internal controls. Effective internal controls are a 
responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer. 

 The committee should ensure the investment 
strategy is consistent with the scheme employers 
ability to pay.

 The Committee regularly review and develop 
where necessary their internal controls.   In 
addition investment managers provide annual 
statements on their controls.

 The Committee periodically reviews the 
appropriateness of the investment strategy to 
achieve the required objectives, taking account of 
employers ability to pay. 

P
age 74



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 21 of 26 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

4. Performance Assessment

 Arrangements should be in 
place for the formal 
measurement of 
performance of the 
investments, investment 
managers and advisers.

 Administering authorities 
should also periodically 
make a formal assessment 
of their own effectiveness as 
a decision making body and 
report on this to scheme 
members.

Investments

 The committee should consider the 
appropriateness of index benchmarks and 
whether active or passive management is more 
appropriate, and where active management is felt 
more appropriate set targets and risk controls.

 The mandate provided to each investment 
manager should cover the investment objective, 
risk parameters, performance targets and 
measurement timescales. 

 Constraints on active managers should not be 
overly narrow or overly wide.

 Investment activity should be monitored and 
returns measured quarterly in line with 
regulations, but also over longer time periods. 

 Variations in returns from the benchmark should 
be attributed to asset allocation, stock selection, 
sector selection and currency.

Advisers

 Assessment should take account of the extent of 
decisions delegated.

Full compliance 

 The Committee consider, with input from the 
investment consultant, the suitability of active or 
passive management for each mandate.

 Investment management agreements with each 
investment manager cover the investment 
objective, risk parameters, and performance 
target.

 The Strategic Asset Allocation and Investment 
Management Benchmarks set out the tolerances 
and performance is considered over 3 – 5 year 
periods.

 The performance of the investment managers is 
measured quarterly by an independent 
performance monitoring company.

 A comprehensive quarterly performance report is 
presented to the Committee.

 Variations in returns from the benchmark are 
attributed to asset allocation, stock selection, 
sector selection and currency within these reports.

 The Committee take all significant decisions 
relating to the management of the Fund.  
Delegations to officers are contained within the 
Council’s Scheme of Administration or in specific 
report recommendations.

P
age 75



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 22 of 26 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

4. Performance Assessment     
    (contd)

 A framework should be established for assessing 
actuaries and consultants who should be 
assessed on a number of factors. 

Decision making bodies

  The committee’s self-assessment against 
expectations should cover manager selection, 
asset allocation, consultant employment and set 
out in annual report. 

 Factors such as past performance and price are 
taken into account when re-tendering for external 
advisers.

 Members all participate in meetings, giving 
opinions and views where relevant.  Each 
person’s view is heard and asked for.

P
age 76



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 23 of 26 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

5. Responsible Ownership
Administering authorities 
should:

 adopt, or ensure their 
investment managers adopt, 
the Institutional 
Shareholders’ Committee 
Statement of Principles on 
the responsibilities of 
shareholders and agents,

 includes a statement of their 
policy on responsible 
ownership in the Statement 
of Investment Principles; and

 report periodically to scheme 
members on the discharge 
of such responsibilities.

 Policies regarding responsible ownership should be 
disclosed in Statement of Investment Principles 
contained in the annual report. 

 The administering authority should consider its 
approach to environmental, social and governance 
issues and the potential for engagement in 
environmental, social and governance issues to add 
value when formulating investment strategy and 
selecting investment managers.

 The committee should ensure that investment 
managers have an explicit strategy, setting out the 
circumstances in which they will intervene in a 
company.

 The committee should ensure its policies are not 
overridden by an investment manager’s general 
policies.

Full compliance

 The Committee are aware of the Institutional 
Shareholders’ Committee Statement of 
Principles on the responsibilities of Institutional 
shareholders and have confirmed that their 
investment managers adopt the Statement of 
Principles on the responsibilities of shareholders 
and agents.

 The Committee consider environmental, social 
and governance issues when formulating 
investment strategy and selecting investment 
managers but do not give precedent to this 
factor over other factors which have greater 
financial implications for the Fund.

 The Statement of Investment Principles includes 
a statement of the Committee’s policy on 
responsible ownership.

 Voting on underlying shareholdings is delegated 
to the fund manager.

 Details of the investment manager’s house 
strategy are requested from the manager. 

 Feedback on interventions to be provided during 
meeting with manager (minimum of once per 
annum).

P
age 77



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 24 of 26 

 The committee should ensure that investment 
consultants adopt the Institutional Share-holder 
Committee’s (ISC) Statement of Practice relating to 
consultants.

 The ISC’s Statement of Principles on the 
responsibilities of Institutional shareholders should 
be noted.

 The investment consultant has confirmed that it 
does adopt the ISC Statement of Practice 
relating to consultants.

P
age 78



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 25 of 26 

Principle Best Practice Guidance Fund’s Current Status

6. Transparency and 
Reporting
Administering authorities 
should:

 act in a transparent manner, 
communicating with 
stakeholders on issues 
relating to their management 
of investment, its 
governance and risks, 
including performance 
against stated objectives; 
and

 provide regular 
communication to scheme 
members in the form they 
consider most appropriate.

Reporting ensures that:

 An integrated approach to governance should be 
built and governance compliance statements 
should be maintained regularly.

 The Fund’s communication statement must set 
out the policy on the provision of information, the 
format and the promotion of the scheme. 

 Examples of good communication from other 
funds should be sought.

 Annual report content should be compared to the 
regulations.

 Funding strategy statement, statement of 
investment principles and governance 
compliance statement should be noted as core 
sources of information.

 The governance compliance statement should 
include information on the extent the 
administering authority has delegated functions 
to a committee, and to the extent this complies 
with CLG guidance.

 The committee should know its stakeholders and 
the interests they have.

Full compliance

 The Annual Report including the Funding 
Strategy Statement, Statement of Investment 
Principles and Governance Statement are 
published each year. 

 Examples of good communication from other 
funds are sought.

 Communications are sent to members whenever 
important changes to the Fund take place, or to 
provide updates.

 The Fund operates transparently and enhances 
accountability to scheme members.

 The Fund’s Governance Statement includes 
information on the extent the administering 
authority has delegated functions to a 
committee, and to the extent this complies with 
Scottish Ministers guidance.

P
age 79



Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund – Statement of Investment Principles – 2013 Page 26 of 26 

VERSION CONTROL TABLE
Version Nature of Amendment Date of Change Author
2000 1.0 SIP – created March 2000 A Bowman

2006 1.0 SIP – update March 2006 A Bowman

2010 1.0 Draft SIP – updated to reflect updated FSS and new Myners Principles March 2010 L Mirley
in collaboration with 
Aon Consulting

2010 2.0 Final Draft of SIP to present to Pension Fund Sub-Committee June 2010 L Mirley

2013 1.0 Final Draft of SIP to present to Pension Fund Committee Dec 2013 K Robb

DRAFT 2015 1.0 Draft of SIP to present to Pension Fund Committee – updated to reflect 
new governance arrangements and introduction of Pension Board, and 
new fund managers 

June 2015 L Mirley

DRAFT 2015 2.0 Final Draft of SIP to present to Pension Fund Committee post AON 
Hewitt Review

June 2015 L Mirley

You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various computer formats by contacting the address below.  Kirsty Robb can also give 

information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Kirsty Robb, Capital & Investments Manager, Council HQ, Newtown St Boswells

01835 825249, treasuryteam@scotborders.gov.uk

P
age 80



Local Government and Regeneration Committee

Report on pension fund 
investment in infrastructure and 
city deal spend

Published 30th November 2015
SP Paper 840  

5th Report, 2015 (Session 4)
Web 

Page 81

Agenda Item 11b



 
 
 

Published in Scotland by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body. 

 
 
 
 
 

All documents are available on the Scottish 
Parliament website at: 
www.scottish.parliament.uk/documents 
 
 
 

For information on the Scottish Parliament 
contact Public Information on: 
 
Telephone: 0131 348 5000 
Textphone: 0800 092 7100 
Email: sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk 
 

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body 

The Scottish Parliament’s copyright policy can be found on the website –  
www.scottish.parliament.uk 

Page 82

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/91279.aspx


Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

 
 

Contents 
Introduction 1 

What this report covers 1 

Background and remit 1 

Approach to scrutiny 2 

Local Government Pension Schemes in Scotland 3 

Background 3 

Governance of pension funds 3 

Pension funds and their fiduciary duty 4 

The role of the Scottish Government 4 

Background to investment in infrastructure in Scotland 4 

Transparency and consistency of information on investments 4 

Barriers to infrastructure investment 6 

Investment in affordable housing 7 

Social, environmental or ethical policy and its impact on investment decisions 7 

Other approaches to investment in infrastructure   8 

Conclusions   9 

Scheme Advisory Board‘s work plan   9 

Pension Funds‘ approach to infrastructure investment 10 

Fiduciary duties 10 

Social, environmental and ethical considerations 10 

Pooling of pension funds 11 

Development of expertise in infrastructure investment 11 

City or region deals 11 

Greater Manchester City deal and devolution agreement 12 

Glasgow and Clyde Valley City Deal 13 

Conclusions 16 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority 16 

Collaborative working by local authorities 16 

Selection of infrastructure projects 17 

Governance arrangements 17 

Page 83



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

Infrastructure investment and non-city deal areas 17 

City deals and improved public services                                                                18 

Annexe A 19 

Local Government Pension Funds and the allocation of councils to those funds
                                                                                                                           19

Annexe B 20 

Extracts from minutes of the Local Government and Regeneration Committee
 20 

 
 

 

Page 84



Page 85



Local Government and 
Regeneration Committee
The remit of the Committee is to consider and report on a) the financing and delivery 
of local government and local services, and b) planning, and c) matters relating to 
regeneration falling within the responsibility of the Cabinet Secretary for Infrastructure 
and Capital Investment.

Follow the Local Government and Regeneration Committee  
@SP_LocalGovt

lgr.committee@scottish.parliament.uk

0131 348 6040

Local Government and Regeneration Committee
Report on pension fund investment in infrastructure and city deal spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4)

scottish.parliament.uk/localgov

Page 86

mailto:lgr.committee%40scottish.parliament.uk?subject=
http://scottish.parliament.uk/localgov


Cara Hilton
Scottish Labour

Cameron Buchanan
Scottish Conservative 
and Unionist Party

Willie Coffey
Scottish National Party

George Adam 
Scottish National Party

Jayne Baxter
Scottish Labour

Convener
Kevin Stewart
Scottish National Party

Deputy Convener
John Wilson
Independent

Committee Membership

Local Government and Regeneration Committee
Report on pension fund investment in infrastructure and city deal spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4)

Note: The membership of the Committee changed during the period covered  
by this report, as follows:
Jayne Baxter (Lab, Mid Scotland and Fife) joined the Committee on 2 September 2015, 
replacing Alex Rowley (Lab, Cowdenbeath)
George Adam (SNP, Paisley) joined the Committee on 5 November 2015, replacing 
Clare Adamson (SNP, Central Scotland)

Page 87

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/msps/currentmsps/Cara-Hilton-MSP.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/msps/currentmsps/Cameron-Buchanan-MSP.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/msps/currentmsps/Willie-Coffey-MSP.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/msps/currentmsps/Anne-McTaggart-MSP.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/msps/currentmsps/George-Adam-MSP.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/msps/currentmsps/Jayne-Baxter-MSP.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/msps/currentmsps/Kevin-Stewart-MSP.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/msps/currentmsps/John-Wilson-MSP.aspx


Page 88



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

Introduction 
1. Following scrutiny of the Scottish Government‘s 2014-15 draft budget proposals, 

we agreed to mainstream our future budget scrutiny, on a rolling basis, into our 
on-going work programme. This will be our second such report having previously 
reported on the 2015-16 draft budget proposals in this manner. We have found 
this approach makes the process more meaningful and adds a continued 
budgetary focus to the scrutiny of the Committee‘s remit. This consistent aim also 
means we can focus more on whether spending by the Scottish Government and 
public bodies is generating the outcomes and efficiencies expected.  

2. For the first time last year we scrutinised the Scottish Government‘s Local 

Government circular which sets out the budget allocations to local authorities. This 
was an innovative approach and we expect to do the same for the Local 
Government 2016-17 Settlement Circular when it is available in the New Year. 

What this report covers  

3. This year we have focussed our main interest on the following areas— 

 Use of local government pension funds to invest in capital infrastructure 
investments, and 

 City or region deals, and other public policy initiatives, and their potential to 
foster an economic environment for infrastructure investment and regeneration. 

Background and remit 

4. At our meeting on 4 February 2015, we agreed to take evidence on the use of 
local government pension funds to invest in infrastructure projects.  This followed 
a recommendation in our report on the 2015-16 Draft Budget— 

 ―We note evidence received in term of the fiduciary duty applying to 
trustees of local government pension funds. There are clearly opportunities 
to deliver much-needed capital investment in areas such as transport and 
housing, if impediments can be addressed. We encourage the Scottish 
Government and local government pension fund managers to look closely 
at this aspect with a view to unlocking this funding for investment in secure 
local capital projects. We expect the Scottish Government to take all 
possible steps to facilitate such investment. We will look to take evidence 
from local government pension funds, in terms of their operation and ability 
to invest, as part of our 2015 mainstreamed budget work programme.‖1 

                                            
1 Local Government and Regeneration Committee. Session 4, 2015. Report on draft Budget 2015-16.  
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/CurrentCommittees/85395.aspx 

1Page 89



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

5.  We agreed the following remit for our inquiry, to— 

a) Look at how current investment vehicles are developed with a view to 
attracting Local Government Pension Funds (LGPF) in Scotland 
investment to support the delivery of capital infrastructure (such as 
housing or transport projects etc.) in other parts of the UK;  

b) Examine perceived barriers to local capital investment vehicles and 
how these link to funds‘ investment strategies, their fiduciary duty and the 
legislative framework; and  

c) Consider if there is a role for other public policy initiatives, such as city 
or region deals, to help foster an economic environment for such 
investment vehicles to be developed. 

Approach to scrutiny 

6. We took preliminary evidence at our meeting on 29 April 2015 from the Scottish 
Public Pensions Agency (SPPA); Strathclyde Pension Fund; Greater Manchester 
Pension Fund; Falkirk Council Pension Fund; Unison Scotland; Scottish Futures 
Trust and Aberdeen City Council in relation to North East Scotland Pension Fund.  

7. We also wrote to all 11 LGPS in Scotland seeking further information on any 
investment made in Scottish or UK infrastructure projects and any current barriers 
to investing in infrastructure projects, as well as their approach to ethical and 
social investment.  In addition, we wrote to West Yorkshire Pension Fund (WYPF), 
as it was suggested to us they were a fund managed almost entirely with in-house 
expertise.   

8. Over and above this activity, we undertook a fact finding visit to Manchester on 
14 September 2015. This visit has been fundamental to our consideration of both 
infrastructure investment by LGPSs in Scotland and city or region deals. Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) and Greater Manchester Pension Fund 
(GMPF) have been hailed as the ‗gold standard‘ in their respective operational 
environments and our visit certainly underlined this accolade in our minds.  

9. We also held an external committee meeting in Greenock on 5 October 2015 
where we discussed infrastructure investments by pension funds and city or 
region deals. At this meeting we heard from Inverclyde Council on both topics. On 
pension funds we heard again from Strathclyde Pension Fund as well as Scottish 
Borders Council and Ediston Real Estate who are involved with the Clydebuilt 
project.  Glasgow City Council gave evidence on the Glasgow and Clyde Valley 
(GCV) city deal. 

10. Finally, on 28 October 2015, we took evidence from John Swinney, Deputy First 
Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Constitution and Economy. 

2Page 90



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

Local Government Pension Schemes in 
Scotland 
Background 

11. Of the five major public sector Scottish schemes – those for local government, 
NHS, teachers, police officers and fire fighters– only the local government scheme 
is a funded scheme (i.e. backed by assets held in investment funds).2  As at 2013, 
the LGPS was valued at £24.1b3 and is now estimated to be valued around £26b.4 

Governance of pension funds 

12. The day-to-day operation of the in Scotland,5 including investment decisions and 
scheme administration, is the responsibility of the 11 fund authorities. Each is 
responsible for one of the 11 legally separate pension funds which underpin the 
overall LGPS in Scotland (see Annexe A).  Each fund has a pension committee 
which takes the overarching decisions on investment. The authority is required to 
obtain and consider proper advice on their investments. The annual report 
includes a statement of the fund management‘s investment policy, a statement by 

the actuary of the level of funding, governance compliance, and a funding strategy 
statement.  

13. The SPPA provides policy advice to the Scottish Government and to local 
government on the scheme and on developing scheme regulations.  The SPPA 
also determines appeals made by members of the scheme.  

14. The SSPA also provides support to the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Scotland) Advisory Board, which provides advice to the Scottish Ministers, at their 
request, on the desirability of changes to scheme design and the implication of 
other policy issues.6 A new Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) was established in 

                                            
2 According to the Scottish Public Pensions Agency (SPPA) as at 31 March 2011 the LGPS had in total 
218,232 active members, 96,349 deferred members and 167,332 pensioners and dependants. 
3 UNISON Scotland. Written submission, paragraph 12  
4 29 April 2015, Official Report column 8 
5 The LGPS is set out in regulations made under section 7 of the Superannuation Act 1972. The Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Scotland) Management and Investment of Funds Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) provide the legal framework which governs LGPS investments. The Regulations require 
administering authorities to carry out a separate audit of their funds and to publish a pension fund annual 
report.  The Regulations also provide that administering authorities must invest any fund money not 
immediately needed to make payments, and general requirements about how investment policy must be 
formulated. 
6 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Scotland) Advisory Board is responsible for providing advice 
to the Scottish Ministers, at their request, on the desirability of changes to scheme design and the 
implication of other policy issues. 

3Page 91



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

April of this year. It agreed its draft work plan in April, which was approved by the 
Scottish Ministers in August.7 

Pension funds and their fiduciary duty 

15. The sole purpose of the LGPS is to meet pension liabilities when they fall due.  
Thus, the pension committees have a legal and fiduciary duty to treat the interests 
of scheme members as paramount.  To comply, investments made on behalf of 
scheme members are geared towards securing the best rate of return subject to 
any investment restrictions agreed for the scheme (e.g. ethical, social or 
environmental reasons.)  

16. The SAB, as part of its newly agreed work plan, is considering whether guidance 
is required for all levels of the LGPS on the fiduciary duty.8 

The role of the Scottish Government  

17. The Scottish Government has no role in relation to funds‘ investment priorities. 

The ‗fiduciary duty‘ placed on LGPS to act in the interests of the beneficiaries of 
the funds is the underlying principle of their investment strategy and governs their 
investment decisions. The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for 
Finance, Constitution and Economy said— 

 ―Our role is to work with our partners in local government to remove any 

barriers in our control and to identify any opportunities to optimise such 
[infrastructure] investment, always respecting the fiduciary duties of the 
scheme managers.‖9 

Background to investment in infrastructure in Scotland 
Transparency and consistency of information on investments 

18. When preparing for this inquiry, we found it difficult to obtain an overall picture of 
infrastructure investment by LGPS. Dave Watson of Unison advised it had only 
recently been possible to see an aggregate of where LGPS money was being 
invested in Scotland - almost half was invested in overseas equity, another quarter 
in UK equities, with little investment in local infrastructure.10  He was keen for 
there to be greater transparency and consistency of information on investments, 
outlining one of the few current ways to ascertain how £26b was invested was 
through the use of freedom of information requests.11  Chad Dawtry of the SPPA 

                                            
7 Scottish Public Pensions Agency. Written submission, paragraph 5. 
8 Scottish Public Pensions Agency. Written submission, Annexe A. 
9 Local Government and Regeneration Committee. Official Report, 28 October 2015, Col 3  
10 LGRC. Official Report, 29 April 2015, Col 6. 
11 LGRC. Official Report, 29 April 2015, Col 8. 

4Page 92



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

advised at the moment ―the Scottish Government does not have central sight of 

where that money is invested‖.12  

19. According to the Government‘s Actuary Department (GAD) less than 1% of UK 

LGPS‘ funds are typically invested in the infrastructure investment category.13 

20. The SAB indicated in its work plan an intention to carry out a benchmarking 
exercise to inform the collection and consistency of fund data and also to improve 
transparency of investments.14 

21. Of the 11 Scottish funds, five confirmed they had made, or intend to make, 
investments in infrastructure.  Others mentioned aspirations to do so.  The funds 
who set out actual investments in infrastructure were— 

 Fife invests up to 5% of the total value of their fund in global infrastructure 
(including some in the UK).15 

 Strathclyde currently has 14 separate infrastructure and related investments 
with a total value of around £350m (2 Scottish, 11 UK and 1 global).16 

 Borders invests in infrastructure indirectly through a growth fund.17 

 Falkirk has made a £30m commitment to invest in Social and Affordable 
Housing, and has an $80m commitment to global infrastructure, some projects 
of which are in the UK.18 

 Lothian has £300m investment in infrastructure, 6% of its total assets, 70% in 
the UK.19 

22. Strathclyde‘s two Scottish infrastructure investments relate to the Clydebuilt Fund, 
which established a £50m local property fund in 2014 and is managed by Ediston 

                                            
12 Local Government and Regeneration Committee. Official Report, 29 April 2015, Col 3. 
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=9931  
13 Government Actuary Department ―Investment News‖, Institutional Investments in Infrastructure, 2 May 
2014 Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/308275/Apr_2014_update.
pdf 
14 Scottish Public Pensions Agency. Written submission, Annexe A. 
15http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Docu
ments/03_FifeCouncilPF.pdf 
16http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Docu
ments/05_StrathclydePF.pdf 
17http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Docu
ments/06_ScottishBordersCouncilPF.pdf 
18http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Docu
ments/07_FalkirkCouncilPF.pdf 
19http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Docu
ments/08_LothianPF.pdf 

5Page 93

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=9931
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/308275/Apr_2014_update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/308275/Apr_2014_update.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/03_FifeCouncilPF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/03_FifeCouncilPF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/05_StrathclydePF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/05_StrathclydePF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/06_ScottishBordersCouncilPF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/06_ScottishBordersCouncilPF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/07_FalkirkCouncilPF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/07_FalkirkCouncilPF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/08_LothianPF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/08_LothianPF.pdf


Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

Real Estate, and a facility of £35m as part of the funding package for construction 
of the Athlete‘s Village for the Glasgow 2014 Commonwealth Games.20 

23. David Robertson of the Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund advised it invests 
in UK property through a third-party fund manager and has set ―a strategic 
allocation of 5% of the fund to be invested in property‖, as at ―31 March 2015, the 
fund was sitting slightly ahead of that target, at 5.3%‖.21 

Barriers to infrastructure investment 

24. We also asked funds about barriers to infrastructure investment. Strathclyde 
summed up the views of those already investing in infrastructure—  

 ―There are no absolute impediments to investment in infrastructure. There 

are however various challenges and obstacles to overcome which could be 
considered as barriers. These include risk, return, governance, and some 
aspects of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) (Scotland) Regulations together with the practicalities 
of identifying suitable strategies and projects, appointing managers, 
structuring investment proposals, bringing together investors, agreeing 
terms, concluding legal documentation and approving funding.‖22 

25. Tayside highlighted a number of barriers for those not currently investing in 
infrastructure—  

 ―Tayside Pension Fund although not currently holding investments in this 
asset class would consider the following to be potential barriers, however 
as no suitable opportunity has been presented to the fund to invest in this 
area, these comments are not known with certainty:  

o (i) Scale of investment required - Significant investment is required 
which may be in excess of asset allocation available.  

o (ii) Costs of investment - Fees associated with this asset class could be 
in excess of current budget for other investments. Pension funds are 
under pressure to lower costs.  

o (iii) Liquidity and risk - Although pension fund investments are long term 
in nature, this asset class is more illiquid than others, therefore any 
sizeable allocation to this asset class could affect the risk profile of the 
fund overall.  

                                            
20http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Docu
ments/05_StrathclydePF.pdf 
21 Local Government and Regeneration Committee. Official Report, 5 October 2015, Col 5. 
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=10144 
22 Strathclyde Pension Fund. Written submission, paragraph 7. 

6Page 94

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/05_StrathclydePF.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S4_LocalGovernmentandRegenerationCommittee/General%20Documents/05_StrathclydePF.pdf


Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

o (iv) Opportunity - This asset class has a lower profile than others and 
thus opportunities for investment do not regularly present themselves. 
In the main, a number of the products available are secondary, and 
therefore not giving the opportunity to directly support infrastructure 
investment.‖23 

26. Other barriers presented to us were the lack of knowledge within pension funds to 
develop, identify or support potential infrastructure investments the interpretation 
of the fiduciary duty and that these investments did not fit with funds‘ strategies. 

North East Pension Fund stated in its submission ―experience in recent years is 

that we have not come across potential investments that fit with in the Fund‘s 

strategy and fiduciary duty‖.24 

27. GAD considered funds didn‘t invest in infrastructure because of a lack of 

necessary expertise to assess and quantify the risks involved, so they preferred to 
invest in assets with an established income stream.25 

Investment in affordable housing  

28. Unison‘s paper, Funding and building the homes Scotland needs 2013,26 outlined 
a proposal to finance social housing in Scotland.  It was developed with 
assistance from the Scottish Federation of Housing Associations. The paper 
called for local authority pension funds, with Government backing, to invest in 
registered housing associations or co-operatives known as a ‗Registered Social 
Landlords‘.27  The paper argued these investments would have a very low risk of 
failure and could achieve high returns with less risk than in the equity or bond 
markets so they should therefore be attractive to funds and provide more 
affordable housing. 

Social, environmental or ethical policy and its impact on investment decisions 

29. Many funds (including Highland, Orkney and Fife) noted social, environmental and 
ethical considerations should be taken into account when making investment 
decisions.  Where decision making was delegated these considerations were 
provided to fund managers.  Highland explained in there submission what this 
meant in practice,―there is a group of socially responsible investment type 
concerns which investors need to be aware of and which should be taken into 
consideration when the decision to invest is being made. This does not mean that 

                                            
23 Tayside Pension Fund. Written submission, paragraph 6. 
24 North East Pension Fund. Written submission, Appendix I, paragraph 7. 
25 Government Actuary Department ―Investment News‖, Institutional Investments in Infrastructure, 2 May 
2014 Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/308275/Apr_2014_update.
pdf 
26 Funding and Building the Homes Scotland Needs. Available at: http://www.unison-
scotland.org.uk/housing/FundingAndBuildingTheHomesScotlandNeeds_Mar2013.pdf 
27 A Registered Social Landlord is a not-for profit corporate entity whose objective is to provide good 
quality rented accommodation with affordable rents. 

7Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/308275/Apr_2014_update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/308275/Apr_2014_update.pdf
http://www.unison-scotland.org.uk/housing/FundingAndBuildingTheHomesScotlandNeeds_Mar2013.pdf
http://www.unison-scotland.org.uk/housing/FundingAndBuildingTheHomesScotlandNeeds_Mar2013.pdf


Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

the decision whether or not to invest depends entirely on the assessment of these 
factors but that they should be weighed in the balance along with all over relevant 
factors when decisions to buy, hold sell investments are being made.‖28 

30. Some went further.  Strathclyde and Shetland mentioned they were signed up to 
the UN Principles on Responsible Investment, which ―reflect the view that 

environmental, social and corporate governance [ESG] issues can affect the 
performance of investment portfolios and therefore must be given appropriate 
consideration by investors if they are to fulfil their fiduciary (or equivalent) duty. 
The Principles provide a voluntary framework by which all investors can 
incorporate ESG issues into their decision-making and ownership practices and so 
better align their objectives with those of society at large.‖29 

Other approaches to investment in infrastructure 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund 

31. GMPF is the largest local government fund in the UK. It has assets of £17.5 b and 
more than 350,000 members with 100,000 employee, pensioner and deferred 
members.  GMPF has invested in its local area for more than 20 years. The fund‘s 

local investment programme has the twin aims of commercial returns and 
supporting the area. 

32. Having heard from Peter Morris, Executive Director of the GMPF, in Committee 
we were keen to find out more about how the GMPF reconciles its fiduciary duty 
with achieving suitable financial return from investment in infrastructure in its area. 

33. Housing was an important part of the fund‘s investment portfolio providing strong 

income generation and a secure collateral base.  It also explained to us a recent 
project in building affordable homes with Manchester City Council – Matrix Homes 
- which met its strategy for social responsibility.  GMPF provided the capital to 
fund the developments, while Manchester City Council and the Homes and 
Community Agency provided the five sites.  Half of the 500 homes were being 
built for sale, half for market rent, a mix determined by commercial factors. 
Financial viability was determined in aggregate across the five sites – good sites 
balancing more challenging sites. We also learned that crucial to the success of 
the project was appropriate governance structures. 

34. Learning from experience and following its involvement with the Investing for 

Growth Initiative30, the fund is developing a local impact portfolio, with five other 
pension funds where the aim is to deliver commercial returns and have social 

                                            
28 Highland Council Pension Fund. (2013). Statement of Investment Principles – Summary.  
29 Shetland Island Council Pension Fund. Written submission, paragraph 9.4.   
 

8Page 96

http://www.highlandpensionfund.org/themes/highland/scheme%20documents/Statement%20of%20Investment%20Principles.pdf


Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

impact. GMPF has also invested in targeted loans to SMEs, property and social 
impact bonds.31  

35. GMPF is now considering further collaborative work with other funds.  It indicated 
that the pooling of resources has the benefit of economies of scale while also 
reducing management fees and costs. 

36. One of the lasting impressions from our Manchester visit was the level of 
enthusiasm, proactivity and vision shown by the staff and the political leaders 
involved with the Fund.  GMPF has a dynamic team supporting the Fund to 
achieve the best returns for its members while identifying new innovative 
investment vehicles and ways of working.  We had a strong sense they were 
driving the Fund‘s investment strategy with a clear view of their short, medium and 

long-term goals, whether these were to increase in-house expertise, diversify the 
Fund‘s portfolio, tackle social need, or grow the local economy.   

West Yorkshire Pension Fund 

37. Our attention was also drawn to WYPF and its approach to in-house investment 
management. In its written submission, it gave a number of advantages over 
externally managed funds, namely the speed of identifying potential infrastructure 
opportunities, the speed of authorisation for new infrastructure investments and 
the ability to manage investments over the longer term as in-house investment 
managers were free to make investment decisions based on a long-term 
assessment of the investment and returns.32  

38. This in-house approach enabled the Fund to gear its strategy towards low risk 
investments, over a longer period of time, and to keep fee costs down to achieve a 
96% funded scheme.33 

Conclusions  
Scheme Advisory Board’s work plan 

39. We acknowledge the work plan set by the new Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Scotland) Advisory Board. We are particularly interested in the collection 
of data exercise under which the Board aims to provide greater transparency on 
investments and consistency of information. The Committee would find it helpful if 

                                            
31 Investing for Growth Initiative: Five local authority pension funds launched a £250m ‗investing for 
growth‘ initiative in 2013. The five pension funds are: Greater Manchester, West Yorkshire, West 
Midlands Pension, South Yorkshire and Merseyside. The initiative aimed to identify UK-based 
opportunities that, while meeting the risk and return requirements of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) 
32 West Yorkshire Pension Fund. Written submission, paragraph 11.   
33 West Yorkshire Pension Fund. Written submission, paragraph 6. 

9Page 97



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

the SAB could provide further detail on the remit for this work and if we could be 
kept up-to-date on the progress of this project. 

Pension Funds’ approach to infrastructure investment 

40. A common theme we came across in scrutinising local government, and in 
particular with our scrutiny of the community empowerment legislation, is its 
cautious approach to risk, whether this is because of the overriding need to 
ensure money is not wasted or because something has always been done in a 
particular way and therefore continues in this manner.  We make the point that 
without some degree of risk taking, innovation will not happen.  We see parallels 
with the taking of a narrow interpretation of the fiduciary duty. 

Fiduciary duties 

41. GMPF, Strathclyde and others are able to reconcile their fiduciary duties with 
investing in infrastructure projects in the UK and locally.  We recognise the 
narrowness of meeting the fiduciary duty can cause a dichotomy for some funds 
depending on their interpretation.  The Law Commission‘s recent 

report34comments ―fiduciary duties are difficult to define and inherently flexible. 
This is one of their essential characteristics: they form the background to other 
more definite duties, allowing the courts to intervene where the interests of justice 
require it‖.35 

42. Pension funds have been able to reconcile risks because of the long-term nature 
of these investments, their positive social or economic impact and because 
infrastructure investments are less volatile than other types of investment.  We 
therefore advocate those LFPS in Scotland, which haven‘t yet considered these 
types of investment, to challenge themselves to do likewise and give a degree of 
priority to investing members‘ funds more locally and building in elements of public 
good.  The work done in Manchester has shown there are successful ways of 
making this type of investment work while protecting members‘ contributions and 

pension reserves.  

Social, environmental and ethical considerations 

43. While considering rates of return, it would be remiss of us not to consider 
investments in certain industries, for example, fossil fuels, arms and tobacco. 
These might provide a high rate of return but we question whether local 
government pension funds should be investing in such industries given social, 
environmental and ethical considerations. We note Strathclyde Pension Fund‘s 

view these industries would be less responsible if public pensions did not invest 
and also that collective action by investors can have a greater influence on the 

                                            
34 Law Commission. (2014). Fiduciary Duties of Investment Intermediaries. 
http://www.lawcom.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/lc350_fiduciary_duties.pdf 
35 Law Commission. (2014). Fiduciary Duties of Investment Intermediaries. 

10Page 98

http://www.lawcom.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/lc350_fiduciary_duties.pdf
http://www.lawcom.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/lc350_fiduciary_duties.pdf


Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

industry.  We consider funds should be guided by consultation with their members 
on this issue. 

Pooling of pension funds 

44. The UK Chancellor recently announced 89 LGPS in England and Wales36 are to 
be pooled into six British Wealth Funds to enable them to invest more in 
infrastructure and to minimise fees and costs. We also note the potential for the 
second Markets in Financial Instruments Directive to restrict smaller pension funds 
ability to invest in infrastructure.  We would find it helpful to know what discussions 
the Scottish Government has had with the UK Government to safeguard 
opportunities for smaller Scottish pension funds to invest in infrastructure. 

45. We agree investment in infrastructure is vital to a successful economy, but we are 
less attracted to the UK‘s formal pooling arrangements for Scottish pension funds.  
During our inquiry we heard how informal collaborations worked well because 
there was a willingness to work together for a shared vision and benefit. 
Strathclyde, Falkirk and Lothian and a few others are already working with other 
funds to increase their investment options.  This is to be applauded and we 
encourage funds to seek out opportunities to work collaboratively to benefit from 
shared expertise in identifying suitable infrastructure investment and to reduce 
investment costs such as management fees.  Being proactive in this regard has 
particular importance given the potential changes to investment rules.  

Development of expertise in infrastructure investment 

46. We would like to see Scottish LGPS investigating how they can grow their 
expertise to open up new investment opportunities and to assist in supporting 
long-term investment strategies, as well as saving on fees and costs.  We 
recommend the SAB should provide a focus and forum to assist Scottish local 
government pension funds to share expertise and to form working collaborations. 

City or region deals 
47. In 2011, the Scottish Government launched its city strategy as set out in the 

Agenda for Cities, ―Scotland’s Cities: Delivering for Scotland‖37. This strategy also 
saw the establishment of the Scottish Cities Alliance (the Cities Alliance), a 
partnership of Scotland's seven cities (Aberdeen, Dundee, Edinburgh, Glasgow, 
Inverness, Perth and Stirling). The Cities Alliance aims to attract external 
investment, stimulate economic activity and, create new jobs and business 
opportunities.38 

                                            
36 Public Finance, 5 October 2015. LGPS funds to be pooled for infrastructure investment boost.  
37 Scottish Government. (2011). Scotland’s Cities: Delivering for Scotland.  
38 http://www.scottishcities.org/ 

11Page 99

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2015/10/lgps-funds-be-pooled-infrastructure-investment-boost
http://www.gov.scot/resource/doc/365367/0124252.pdf


Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

48. City or region deals are a UK policy initiative to encourage local authorities to 
operate strategically at the regional level and support a long-term and wider focus 
on their priorities. Each deal is bespoke to the particular city region and is 
expected to include a package of measures designed to reflect regional 
circumstances. The GCV city deal became the first city deal in Scotland in August 
2014.  

49. The UK Government announced in its Budget on 18 March 2015 that there was 
merit in extending the city deal model further.  In Scotland Aberdeen, Edinburgh 
and the Inverness and Highland city regions have recently submitted proposals for 
city deals.  

50. Other initiatives are also available to stimulate growth and deliver infrastructure 
investment such as Tax Increment Finance (TIF).  TIF uses prospective future 
additional revenue gains from taxes to finance the borrowing required to fund 
public infrastructure improvements that will, in turn, create those gains.  Growth 
Accelerator Model (GAM) is another approach where public and private sectors 
share the risks by taking a payment by results approach. More models are 
available and can be found in the updates to the Scottish Government‘s 
Infrastructure Investment Plan.39  We do not consider these approaches in this 
report but recognise their potential to unlock investment in infrastructure. 

Greater Manchester City deal and devolution agreement 

51. We were impressed by the opportunities that had arisen in Manchester since they 
started work on their city deal and were keen to see how Scottish cities could use 
the initiative in their own regional areas. 

52. When we met with representatives of GMCA it explained the combined authority 
was made up of 10 local authorities .40  In 2017, an elected Mayor will become the 
11th member of the GMCA.  The 10 local authorities have worked closely together 
on infrastructure schemes for two decades; however, the combined authority had 
only been a formal arrangement since 2011.  The constituent local authorities 
unanimously considered the GMCA enabled them to strategically plan economic 
growth of the Greater Manchester area to deliver social policy through the 
strategic delivery of services such as housing and transport.  

53. In March 2012, the GMAC secured a city deal. The deal included: 

 A "Revolving Infrastructure Fund" allowing the GMCA to earn-back up to £30m 
per year against spending on infrastructure projects; 

 The formation of a "Greater Manchester Investment Framework" allowing 
Greater Manchester to make better use of Central Government and EU funding; 

                                            
39 Scottish Government. (2011). Infrastructure Investment Plan 2011. 
40 Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Stockport, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan 

12Page 100

http://www.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/364225/0123778.pdf


Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

 The establishment of a "Greater Manchester Housing Investment Board" to 
build new housing in the area; 

 The creation of a "City Apprenticeship and Skills Hub" to increase the number 
of apprenticeships available in the area; and 

 The formation of a "Low Carbon Hub" to integrate multiple carbon reduction 
measures.41 

54. City deal status and devolution of transport had allowed for long-term strategic 
action to be taken on integration and connectivity of transport, rationalisation of 
transport services, re-regulation of bus services and investment in transport 
infrastructure with a view to meeting communities‘ needs and creating a growing 

local economy.  Also, importantly, this had meant a move from ‗start-stop funding‘ 
to a single funding agreement which provided more security to make longer-term 
investment.42  

55. The GMCA told us it was now focusing on the delivery of health and social care as 
responsibility for healthcare had recently been devolved with the GMCA taking full 
responsibility in April 2016.  The combined authority believed it was possible to 
reduce the health funding gap43, currently £2b for the Manchester area, through 
potential savings and efficiencies from across the area‘s 15 NHS trusts. 44   

Glasgow and Clyde Valley City Deal 

56. In January 2013, GCV undertook a study to determine whether an infrastructure 
fund could meet the area‘s objectives.  The study found there was significant need 
for additional infrastructure investment and a more co-ordinated approach to 
delivery would maximise the impact of investment.45  

57. There are eight councils in the GCV: East and West Dunbartonshire, East 
Renfrewshire, Glasgow City Council, Inverclyde, North and South Lanarkshire and 
Renfrewshire.  The GCV city deal includes three strands: 

 A £1.13b infrastructure investment fund (£500m each from the UK and Scottish 
Governments) to enhance transport infrastructure; unlock new sites for housing 
and employment; and improve public transport over the next 10-20 years; 

                                            
41 Greater Manchester City Deal. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221014/Greater-
Manchester-City-Deal-final_0.pdf 
42 Start-stop funding is where funding is provided for a fixed period and renewal is sought. For example 
this could be based on a bid for funds based on the previous year‘s expenditure, or by applying to renew 
funds, or by providing evidence a target has been met.  
43 (UK Government) (2013) Closing the NHS Funding Gap: How to Get Better Value Healthcare for 
Patients. Report warns that by 2020-21 the gap between the budget and rising costs could reach £30bn.  
44 (UK Government) (2013) Closing the NHS Funding Gap: How to Get Better Value Healthcare for 
Patients. Report warns that by 2020-21 the gap between the budget and rising costs could reach £30bn.  
45 (UK Government) (2014). Glasgow and Clyde Valley City Deal.  

13Page 101

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221014/Greater-Manchester-City-Deal-final_0.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221014/Greater-Manchester-City-Deal-final_0.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/284044/ClosingTheGap091013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/284044/ClosingTheGap091013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/284044/ClosingTheGap091013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/284044/ClosingTheGap091013.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/346278/Glasgow_Clyde_Valley_City_Deal.pdf


Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

 A £72m life science and business support strand (£39m from the Scottish 
Government); and 

 A £24m employability strand (Scottish Government supporting the partnership 
approach) 

58. Over its lifetime, GCV leaders estimate the deal will:   

 Support an overall increase of around 29,000 jobs in the city region; 

 Work with 19,000 unemployed residents and support over 5,500 back into 
sustained employment; 

 Secure £1b of Scottish Government and UK Government capital funding to 
support a proposed infrastructure investment programme for the area. This will 
be complemented by a minimum of £130m of investment from GCV local 
authorities; 

 Lever an estimated £3.3b of private sector investment into the proposed 
infrastructure investment programme; and 

 Spread the benefits of economic growth across GCV, ensuring benefit to 
deprived areas. 

59. At our Committee meeting in Inverclyde, Alan Vessey from Glasgow City Council 
told us in terms of the infrastructure programme 14 business cases had been 
approved with another three business cases expected.  Of the 14, three projects 
were in the Inverclyde area: Inchgreen, renewables hub; Inverkip, roadway 
improvements; and Greenock, expansion of the ocean terminal.46 

60. We were interested to learn whether and how profitability would be shared when 
investment involved a private company.  Aubrey Fawcett, representing Inverclyde 
Council, explained profitability would be clawed back through a joint venture 
agreement, for example if the public sector and Peel Ports put in 50% investment 
each towards the expansion of the ocean terminal, then the residual income and 
the net income would be split on a 50:50 basis.47 

61. Another area we wished to clarify was how the public could be satisfied public 
money through a city deal was not being used to support or benefit a private 
concern.  We were assured by Inverclyde Council that public money must be dealt 
with in a proper manner that does not breach state-aid rules.48 

62. We were keen to explore the ambition and innovation in the infrastructure projects 
proposed for the city deal.  Alan Vessey understood initially 80 projects had been 
submitted and 20 were identified to give the city deal programme the best 

                                            
46 LGRC. Official Report, 5 October 2015, col 12  
47 LGRC. Official Report. 5 October 2015, col 13.  
48 LGRC. Official Report, 5 October 2015, col 14. 

14Page 102



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

economic benefit.  He also stated the projects worked together in a regional 
context.49 

63. Our community stakeholder event held in Inverclyde raised some concerns about 
the lack of communication with the community around the various plans for 
Inverclyde.  John Mundell, Chief Executive of Inverclyde Council, explained a 
number of recent community engagement events had been held.  He accepted 
that, as far as the city deal was concerned, ―people do not have enough 
awareness, despite the local work that has been done in Glasgow and Clyde 
Valley and that we need to do more.  Our professionals in those areas are working 
on that just now.‖50 

64. On whether Inverclyde was getting a fair deal from the city deal, Councillor 
Clocherty said— 

 ―The answer is easy: yes, we are getting a good deal, when we consider 
the size of Inverclyde and the bang for our buck, as the convener put it. We 
are talking about a £1.13 billion infrastructure programme, with £0.5 billion 
coming from the UK Government, £0.5 billion coming from the Scottish 
Government and the local authorities coming up with the rest. Given the 
scarce resources that Inverclyde Council has for regeneration, our 
contribution, for three major projects, represents a very good deal for 
Inverclyde.‖51 

65. John Swinney, Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Finance, 
Constitution and Economy told us there were ―many strengths and opportunities‖ 

in city deals.  He also stated genuine collaboration was crucial to their 
effectiveness.52  He did not commit to providing funding to all Scottish city deals, 
but said— 

 ―We are supportive and keen to be helpful, but our degree of support and 

the level of support will be determined by the quality of the propositions that 
come forward.‖53 

66. We were interested in how the work was being monitored.  Inverclyde Council 
explained briefly the governance arrangements in place.  He advised Scottish 
Government and Treasury officials would be involved and that sufficient 
information will have to be provided to demonstrate we are getting the required 
gross value added outputs.54 

                                            
49 LGRC. Official Report, 5 October 2015, col 15.  
50 LGRC. Official Report, 5 October 2015, col 18. 
51 LGRC. Official Report, 5 October 2015, col 22. 
52 LGRC. Official Report, 28 October 2015, col 10. 
53 LGRC. Official Report, 28 October 2015, col 11. 
54 LGRC. Official Report, 5 October 2015, col 23. 

15Page 103



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

67. When asked whether city deals offered value for money, the Deputy First Minister 
said— 

 ―The assessment of value for money must be applied rigorously and 

continuously through the city deal.‖ 

68. He added— 

 ―My in-principle view is that city deals are likely to be value for money 
because they will be driven by the values of collaboration and co-operation, 
shared interest and the breaking down of boundaries between public 
authorities.‖55 

69. There was concern some areas not included in any city deal could be 
disadvantaged.  This could directly impact on such areas‘ ability to grow their 

economy, tackle regeneration and also connectivity, such as travelling to work or 
hospitals.  This was of heightened concern where such areas had issues of 
deprivation.  

70. Areas highlighted as an example of those which could lose out on funding as they 
were not either in city deal arrangements or included under the Scottish Cities 
Alliance were Grangemouth and Kilmarnock.  In response to these concerns, the 
Deputy First Minister advised there was an existing range of interventions which 
could be deployed to support individual localities, such as TIF and GAM amongst 
others.56  

Conclusions  
Greater Manchester Combined Authority 

71. Although there are some ‗structural‘ differences in the systems north and south of 

the border, there are lessons to be learned from the experience of GMAC.  We 
found it valuable to hear what could be achieved through consensual partnership 
working by local authorities with shared goals.  In doing so, economies of scale 
are created which work to the advantage of not just the largest authority but all 
partners.  This formal partnership of authorities creates a climate of opportunity to 
strategically plan and focus on integration of infrastructure and services with 
funding over a longer timescale. Again the drive, professionalism and vision were 
evident in the combined authority‘s staff and political leadership.  We see these 
qualities as integral to the success of any city deal. 

                                            
55 LGRC. Official Report, 28 October 2015, col 10. 
56 LGRC. Official Report, 28 October 2015, col 13. 

16Page 104



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

Collaborative working by local authorities  

72. The GCV city deal is in its infancy and funding by the UK and Scottish 
governments is over a 20 year period.  Greater Manchester‘s local authorities 

have experience of working together for the past 20 years and so are well placed 
to grasp the opportunities provided by a city deal and more devolved powers.  It 
remains to be seen whether the formal partnership of the eight local authorities 
involved in the GCV city deal will be able to forge and maintain stronger links 
through the process and find other opportunities, outwith the confines of the city 
deal, to work together for the greater good of the region.  We ask the Scottish 
Government to review this aspect regularly throughout the lifespan of the city deal 
and update the Committee.  

Selection of infrastructure projects 

73. We note with the GCV city deal there were 80 infrastructure projects submitted by 
councils and 20 selected.  The Committee asks the GCV cabinet to provide the 
criteria used to identify the projects which have the most benefit to the region; 
lessons learned from this process and whether these lessons were, or will be, 
communicated to the other regions in advance of their bids for a city deal.  In 
addition, we would like to know how the Scottish Government intends to measure 
the impact of these infrastructure investments on the local and wider economy. 

Governance arrangements 

74. We understand each city deal will have its own governance arrangements; for 
example, an independent Commission on Urban Growth is to be established to 
undertake analysis and make recommendations to the UK and Scottish 
governments on the performance of the infrastructure fund.  Crucial to its success 
will be the management and accountability structures underpinning a city deal, 
particularly where there is private investment.  We seek clarification from the 
Accounts Commission what its role will be in relation to city deals as the public 
spending watchdog for local government.  If the Aberdeen, Edinburgh and 
Inverness and Highlands city deals all come to fruition this will mean 75% of 
Scotland‘s population will be covered by deal based agreements. This underlines 
the need for robust governance and careful monitoring performance and 
outcomes. 

Infrastructure investment and non-city deal areas 

75. The fact that 75% of Scotland‘s population could be covered by deal based 

arrangements poses a serious equality and equity question: what becomes of the 
remaining 25%.  How will these non-city regions tackle growing their economies 
when funding is being channelled to city regions?  We would find it helpful if the 
Scottish Government could identify those potential communities and provide a 
more detailed view on what initiatives and support it will make available to assist.  
We recommend the Scottish Government takes all necessary steps to ensure all 

17Page 105



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

Scotland benefits from initiatives to invest in infrastructure. We also consider the 
Scottish Government ensures city deals have wider benefit to those areas 
immediately surrounding the city region and do not disadvantage these 
communities. 

City deals and improved public services 

76. A significant part of our work programme has been devoted to the delivery of 
public services.  We would be encouraged to see evidence of the impact city deals 
have on the efficiency and effectiveness of public services through the medium of 
enhanced infrastructure investment.  It would be helpful if the Scottish 
Government could advise how it intends to measure and report upon this aspect 
under city deals.  

77. The Committee‘s community stakeholder event held in Inverclyde raised some 

concerns about the lack of communication with the community around the various 
plans for Inverclyde.  We recommend those council areas included in a city deal 
undertake sufficient awareness work to assist communities understand strategic 
infrastructure investment plans for its area and the anticipated benefits this will 
bring.   

78. Local authorities have been making progress in community involvement in recent 
years.  We would be dismayed if this did not work through into city deals.  We ask 
the Scottish Government to indicate how, under the arrangements being agreed, 
community involvement can be guaranteed and crucially built in from the outset.  

  

18Page 106



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

Annexe A 
Local Government Pension Funds and the allocation of councils to those funds 

Fund Councils 

Strathclyde Pension Fund 

Glasgow City  
Argyll and Bute  
East Ayrshire  
North Ayrshire  
South Ayrshire  
West Dunbartonshire  
East Dunbartonshire  
North Lanarkshire  
South Lanarkshire  
East Renfrewshire  
Renfrewshire  
Inverclyde  
 

Lothian Pension Fund 

City of Edinburgh  
Midlothian  
West Lothian  
East Lothian 
 

North East Scotland Pension Fund 

Aberdeen City  
Aberdeenshire  
Moray 
 

Tayside Superannuation Fund 

Dundee City  
Angus  
Perth and Kinross 
 

Scottish Borders Pension Fund Scottish Borders  
 

Dumfries and Galloway Pension Fund Dumfries and Galloway 
 

Falkirk Council Pension Fund 

Falkirk  
Stirling  
Clackmannanshire 
 

Fife Council Pension Fund Fife 
 

Highland Council Pension Fund 
Highland  
Comhairle nan Eilean Siar 
 

Orkney Islands Pension Fund Orkney 
 

Shetland Islands Pension Fund Shetland 
  

19Page 107



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

Annexe B 
Extracts from minutes of the Local Government and Regeneration Committee 

4th Meeting, 2015 (Session 4) Wednesday 4 February 2015 

2. Budget Strategy Phase 2016-17 (in private): The Committee considered its 
approach to the Budget Strategy Phase 2016-17 and agreed to— 
 
take evidence on the role of local government pension funds in terms of 
investment in capital infrastructure projects, and 
 
keep a watching brief on the formation and operation of the recently announced 
Commission on the future of Council Tax. 
 
3. Work programme (in private): The Committee considered and agreed its 
work programme up to the end of June 2015. As part of this programme, the 
Committee agreed to undertake its work on the Budget Strategy Phase 2016-17 
in late April 2015. The Committee also agreed to review its work programme in 
private, in June 2015 and to consider any further review of the work programme, 
in private, at future meetings. 

 
13th Meeting, 2015 (Session 4) Wednesday 29 April 2015 

2. Budget Strategy Phase 2016-17: The Committee took evidence at the Budget 
Strategy Phase 2016-17 from— 
 
Chad Dawtry, Director of Policy, Scottish Public Pensions Agency; 
 
Barry White, Chief Executive, Scottish Futures Trust; 
 
Dave Watson, Scottish Organiser, Unison Scotland; 
 
Peter Morris, Head of Pension Policy, Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council, 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund; 
 
Richard McIndoe, Strathclyde Pension Fund and Head of Pensions, Glasgow City 
Council; 
 
Steven Whyte, North East Scotland Pension Fund and Head of Finance, 
Aberdeen City Council; 
 
Bryan Smail, Falkirk Pension Fund and Head of Finance, Falkirk Council. 

20Page 108



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 

 
2. Budget Strategy Phase 2016-17 (in private): The Committee considered the 
evidence received and agreed to consider an approach paper on issues raised in 
relation to the Budget Strategy Phase 2016-17 in due course. 

 
13th Meeting, 2015 (Session 4) Wednesday 29 April 2015 

1. Work programme (in private): The Committee considered its work 
programme for the period September 2015 to March 2016. It agreed to 
undertake the following items of work which will be scheduled, as appropriate, 
over the period from September 2015 to March 2016 
 
In terms of its mainstreamed scrutiny of the Scottish Government‘s annual 

budget, the Committee considered and agreed a more detailed approach to its 
scrutiny of local government pension fund investment in supporting capital 
infrastructure development. The Committee agreed the following scope for this 
work— 
 
To examine the ability of Scottish Local Government Pension Funds 
(―LGPFs‖) to support the delivery of local capital infrastructure through their 

investment policies by— 
 
a. Looking at how current investment vehicles are developed with a view to 
attracting LGPF investment to support the delivery of capital infrastructure 
(such as housing or transport projects etc.) in other parts of the UK; 
 
b. Examining perceived barriers to local capital investment vehicles and how 
these link to Funds‘ investment strategies, their fiduciary duty and the 

legislative framework; and 
 
c. Considering if there is a role for other public policy initiatives, such as City 
or Region Deals, to help foster an economic environment for such investment 
vehicles to be developed. 
 
Based on the first phase of this work already undertaken, the Committee also 
agreed— 
 
to seek written evidence from Bradford City Council, as the parent authority for 
the West Yorkshire Pension Fund‘s investment strategy, in terms of its 
development of in-house expertise on pension investments; 
 
to undertake fact-finding visits to Manchester and Inverclyde to examine key 
issues; 
 

21Page 109



Local Government and Regeneration Committee 
Report on Pension Fund Investment in Infrastructure and City Deal Spend, 5th Report, 2015 (Session 4) 
 

to invite COSLA representatives to take part in a fact-finding visit, as 
appropriate; 
 
to take any further oral evidence from key stakeholders; 
 
to take oral evidence from the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for 
Finance, Constitution & Economy and the Cabinet Secretary for Social 
Justice, Communities & Pensioners‘ Rights; 
 
to report to the Finance Committee on this work, as well as provide reports to 
other relevant subject committees on any relevant issues arising; 
 
to consider any further approaches to the draft budget, and any draft reports 
on it, in private at future meetings, and 
 
to delegate the approval of any witness expenses to the Convener and clerks. 

 

22nd Meeting, 2015 (Session 4) Monday 5 October 2015 

1. Draft Budget Scrutiny 2016-17: The Committee took evidence on issues 
around local government pension funds and investment in capital 
infrastructure projects and Inverclyde's role in the Glasgow and Clyde Valley 
City Deal from— 
 
Cllr Jim Clocherty, Depute Leader of the Council, John Mundell, Chief 
Executive, and Aubrey Fawcett, Corporate Director for Environment, 
Regeneration and Resources, Inverclyde Council; 
 
Alan Vesey, Director City Deal, Glasgow City Council; 
 
Richard McIndoe, Head of Pensions, Strathclyde Pension Fund; 
 
Alastair Dickie, Development Director, Ediston Real Estate; 
 
David Robertson, Chief Financial Officer, Scottish Borders Council. 

 
26th Meeting, 2015 (Session 4) Wednesday 18 November 2015 

5. Draft Budget Scrutiny 2016-17 (in private): The Committee considered a 
draft report. 

 

22Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Document is Restricted

Page 113

Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 115

Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153

Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minute
	5 Risk Register Update
	Item 5 - Appendix 1 - Risk Register Update - Pension Fund Committee - 10 December 2015

	6 Business Plan Performance Update
	8 Procurement Update
	9 Cessation Briefing
	Item 9 - Appendix 1 - Cessation  Briefing - Pension Fund Committee - 10 December 2015

	10 Scheme Advisory Board - Work Plan
	11a SBC Submission of Evidence
	Item 11(a) - Appendix 1 - Submission of Evidence - Pension Fund Committee - 10 December 2015
	Item 11(a) - Appendix A - Statement of Investment Principles

	11b Final Report
	15 Minute
	16 Quarterly Performance Update
	17 Property Investment Update
	Item 17 - Property Investment Update - Appendix 1 - Pension Fund Committee - 10 December 2015




